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Twenty-three years ago, I 
joined the Board of Medical 
Services Association (one of 
Pacific Blue Cross’ predecessor 
organizations) to represent 
plan sponsors. Since then, I 
have watched the organization 
evolve into the successful not-
for-profit organization it is today. 
Throughout this process, it has 
maintained its status as BC’s first 
choice health benefits provider. More than a decade ago, 
I chaired the Board  and I returned to this role in 2010. 
It has been an honour to serve this organization in this 
leadership role again. 

This past year, our Board saw the organization pull 
together to accomplish a great deal. The Board would like 
to acknowledge Mr. Ken Martin, who has proven himself 
to be an exemplary leader. We would also like to thank 
and recognize the superb executive team who stand 
alongside him, and the more than 700 employees who 
have worked so hard to deliver this year’s results.  

Compared to 1989, when I joined the Board, today’s Pacific 
Blue Cross is more mature. We are financially strategic; we 
innovate; and we are building a technology platform that 
will be leading-edge. We have continued to show good 
results and have maintained our good reputation. We are 
in every way well-positioned to continue our progress.

Throughout our journey, we have not forgotten our 
roots in British Columbia communities. Pacific Blue Cross 
recently launched a new Community Connection Health 
Foundation. The idea of creating an endowment for a 
Foundation is a continuation of Pacific Blue Cross’ long-
term commitment to BC’s communities.

The Foundation’s Charter outlines our commitment to 
improve outcomes in the areas of mental health and 
chronic disease. The new Community Connection Health 
Foundation Board is made up of a mix of directors and 
employees from Pacific Blue Cross and our subsidiary 
British Columbia Life & Casualty Company.

Since launching the Foundation, we have helped increase 
capacity for the Eastside Dental Clinic by providing them 
with funding for a new sterilizer and we stepped up as 
the first company to help fund the soon-to-be developed 
mental health centre at Vancouver General Hospital.

Whether with small or larger contributions, we expect 
to make a significant difference in British Columbia. 
And by focusing our funding in BC, we will build new 

partnerships and 
friendships with people 
and organizations in 
BC who are improving 
the experience of 
those experiencing 
a mental illness or 
suffering from a chronic disease.

While the Board stays engaged with the people and 
business of Pacific Blue Cross and takes pride in its 
success, the Board’s primary responsibility is to be 
responsive to the governance of Pacific Blue Cross. 

In 2011, as part of the standard review cycle, the Financial 
Institutions Commission (FICOM) reviewed Pacific Blue 
Cross’ governance. Despite a rigorous exploratory review 
cycle, their  two recommendations were matters already 
identified and acted on. This reinforces our belief that the 
Board is being thorough in its diligence and is fulfilling its 
fiduciary responsibilities. 

Our members and stakeholders  should feel reassured that 
we have a robust committee system that includes external 
advisors. We are a policy-based Board that approaches all 
issues with a balanced, professional point of view.

In 2012 the Board will remain fully engaged in the 
consideration and adoption of the strategic plan. We look 
forward to a new year filled with meaningful relationships, 
excellent teamwork and new opportunities. We will 
continue to be British Columbia’s preferred health benefits 
provider and resume our journey on the path of progress.

Richard Taylor,
Chair of the Board of Directors

Message from the Chair

 It has been an incredible 
journey. Pacific Blue Cross has 
come a very long way in the last  
72 years. 
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Message from the President and CEO
2011 was another successful year in the continued 
evolution of Pacific Blue Cross (PBC) and BC Life to be 
an innovative service organization that will exceed the 
expectations of our clients and members on a  
consistent basis.

I want to draw your attention to our financial results.  In 
2011, PBC was required to change from Canadian Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  The major impact to 
PBC was the treatment of unrealized gains and losses in 
our investment portfolio.  In prior years, we had reported 
these gains and losses on our Balance Sheet under the 
heading Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income as 
required by GAAP.  Under IFRS, we elected to show them 
on our Consolidated Statment of Income.  The financial 
statements included in this report have been compiled in 
IFRS, including those for 2010.  Under Canadian GAAP, our 
2010 surplus for the year was $16.8m as compared to the 
IFRS amount for 2010 of $26m. Had the 2011 results been 
expressed in Canadian GAAP our surplus would have been 
of the order of more than $11m versus the IFRS reported 
loss of $0.5m.  As I write this report, greater than half of 
that unrealized loss has already been eliminated as a result 
of positive results in the investment markets early in 2012.

The other important fact is that reporting unrealized 
gains and losses on our Consolidated Statment of Income 
as opposed to our Balance Sheet has no impact on our 
solvency ratios.  I am pleased to report that as of the end 
of 2011, our MCCSR (solvency ratio) remained strong 
at 261%, a comfortable margin over the regulatory 
minimum of 150%.

On the client side, we furthered our relationship 
with our largest client by entering into a long term 
contract to provide administrative services (enrollment, 
recordkeeping and billing) for their membership.  We 
were also delighted to enter the student insurance 
business in 2011 as the successful carrier to win the UBC 
and Capilano University student plans.

In the field of technology, we continued down the path 
of building the most modern technology platform in our 
industry by completing work on two of our important 
technology projects: our individual plans system and our 
state-of-the-art administration system to provide service 
to our trusteed clients, particularly those with hour-bank 
administration needs. We launched our first mobile app 
for travel insurance (not only our first, but the first in 
the country), and enabled e-claims submission for our 
membership. We also completed work on our new health 
resource site called My Good Health in anticipation of a 
January 2012 general launch to Pacific Blue Cross plan 
members and a co-branded launch for our client, the 
British Columbia Public Service Agency. 

As many of our plan members and clients know, we 
spent much of 2011 moving 
ahead with our new core 
technology platform, 
which we internally refer 
to as ACES. 

 2011 was another successful year 
in the continued evolution of Pacific 
Blue Cross and BC Life to be an 
innovative service organization 
that will exceed the expectations 
of our clients and members on a 
consistent basis. 
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to furthering our role in creating a better BC. This year, we 
moved forward with our plan to develop a Community 
Connection Health Foundation. Our Foundation provides 
support for organizations in our community that help 
improve outcomes in the area of chronic disease and 
mental illness. 

Healthcare initiatives will always be a primary focus for 
our corporate social responsibility, and we will continue 
to focus on supporting our employees’ activities in 
the community and supporting their children as they 
pursue a post secondary education. As someone who 
cares a great deal about education, I was delighted by 
the number of applicants to our Reach Your Potential 
scholarship program. We awarded $31,000 in scholarships 
to the children of our employees in 2011, in addition to 
the scholarship programs that we offer through several 
post-secondary institutions in BC.

The changes to our financial reporting, our progress 
on the technology front, our leadership development 
and our community connection initiatives are all part of 
our desire to build for the future. We are committed to 
improving health outcomes, developing engaged and 
knowledgeable employees, enabling a strong economy, 
and building a vibrant and innovative Pacific Blue Cross 
that will serve the needs of British Columbians for many 
more decades.

Ken Martin, 
President and CEO

At the time of writing this report, we are in the final 
development stage, and look forward to launching this 
new platform in mid-2013.

Our travel insurance business surged with a 28% increase 
in 2011, and our individual plan business continued its 
excellent growth pattern.

Internally, we introduced the Leaders of Tomorrow 
program for our aspiring leaders to help them achieve 
their career goals and to build our leadership capacity. 
Three graduates of our program moved into managerial 
roles, while others moved into leadership positions within 
our bargaining unit. 

We signed another four-year agreement with our union 
membership which was well received by management 
and employees alike. Our relationship with our union, 
CUPE 1816, continues to be a collaborative one as we 
work together to deliver the best services to our clients 
and members.

I was also pleased to promote Anne Kinvig into the new 
role of Chief Operating Officer as part of our plan to build 
greater leadership capacity.

We are also quite aware of the role our organization plays 
in the community. All members of our executive serve 
on various not-for-profit boards in BC and nationally.  For 
my part, I serve as Chair-Elect of the Vancouver Board 
of Trade, a director of Ovarian Cancer Canada and of 
the Canadian Life and Health Insurance Association as 
well as active roles on two international health plan 
organizations.  My involvement in these organizations 
allows me to give back to the community, and stay 
in touch with the needs of the broader business and 
organizational communities and developments within 
our industry in Canada and abroad.

The Pacific Blue Cross Board of Directors is also committed 

 We are committed to improving health outcomes, 
developing engaged and knowledgeable employees, 
enabling a strong economy, and building a vibrant and 
innovative Pacific Blue Cross that will serve the needs 
of British Columbians for many more decades.
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Responsibility for the Annual Report
The management of PBC Health Benefits Society is 
responsible for the integrity and fair presentation of the 
financial statements and other information in the Annual 
Report. The complete financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, include amounts based on estimates and 
judgements. Financial information and operating data 
presented elsewhere in this Annual Report are consistent 
with that in the complete financial statements.

PBC Health Benefits Society maintains systems of internal 
accounting and administrative controls which provide 
management with reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded and reliable financial records are maintained. 
This system includes written policies and procedures, 
an organizational structure that segregates duties and a 
program of periodic audits by internal auditors.

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of 
Directors to carry out an annual valuation of the policy 
liabilities. In performing this valuation, the Appointed 
Actuary makes assumptions as to future rates of interest, 
mortality, morbidity, expenses, inflation, reinsurance 
recoveries, and other contingencies, taking into account 
the circumstances of the Society and the policies in force. 
The Appointed Actuary is responsible for ensuring that 
these assumptions and the methods for the valuation of 
policy liabilities are in accordance with accepted actuarial 
practice, applicable legislation, and associated regulations 
and directives, and is required to provide an opinion on 
the appropriateness of the policy liabilities at the balance 
sheet date to meet all policyholder obligations of PBC 
Health Benefits Society. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent auditor, 
has been appointed to express an opinion as to whether 
these financial statements fairly present the Society’s 
financial position and operating results in all material 
respects in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

The Appointed Actuary and independent auditor may 
consider each other’s work in discharging their respective 
responsibilities.

The Board of Directors has reviewed and approved these 
financial statements. To assist the Board in meeting its 
responsibility, it has appointed an Audit Committee, 
comprised entirely of independent Directors. The 
committee meets periodically with management, the 
internal auditors and the independent auditors to review 
internal accounting controls, audit results and accounting 
principles and practices.

John Crawford, CA
Chief Financial Officer & Senior Vice President
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Appointed Actuary’s Report 
February 29, 2012
To the members of PBC Health Benefits Society:
I have valued the actuarial liabilities for insurance 
contracts, reinsurance assets and other contract liabilities 
of PBC Health Benefits Society for its consolidated balance 
sheets as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 
and January 1, 2010, and their change in the statement 
of income and comprehensive income for the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, in accordance 
with accepted actuarial practice, including selection of 
appropriate assumptions and methods.

In my opinion, the amount of actuarial liabilities and 
other insurance contract liabilities makes appropriate 
provision for all policyholder obligations and the financial 
statements fairly present the results of the valuation.

Wendy Harrison, FCIA 
Eckler Ltd
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Independent Auditor’s Report
February 29, 2012
To the members of PBC Health Benefits Society:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of PBC Health Benefits Society 
(operating as Pacific Blue Cross) and its subsidiaries, which 
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 
31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and 
the consolidated statements of changes in equity, 
income and comprehensive income and cash flows for 
the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 
2010, and the related notes, which comprise a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated 
financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of PBC Health Benefits Society and its 
subsidiaries as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 
and January 1, 2010 and their financial performance and 
their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 
and December 31, 2010 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, BC



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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 As at D ec. 31 As at D ec. 31  As at Jan 1 

 2011 2010 2010 

 

Assets 

Property and equipment (note 11)  6,050  6,736 6,815 

Intangible assets (note 12) 52,617  39,286 28,520 

Investments (note 7) 139,335  133,096 243,937 

PIM CO  investments (note 6) 158,183  145,064 - 

D eferred tax assets  432  369 317 

Amounts due from reinsurers (note 8) 60,871  56,248 53,669 

Trade and other receivables (note 9) 34,463  27,096 24,700 

Current tax receivable 1,052  796 - 

Prepaid expenses (note 10) 2,916  3,155 2,979 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 7) 34,041  26,100 39,617 
 

Total assets $489,960 $437,946 $400,554 

 

Liabilities and Equity 

Insurance liabilities (note 13) $117,090 $105,242 $101,235 

M embers’ dues received in advance (note 14) 7,768  6,644 6,050 

Trade and other payables (note 15) 175,833 150,900 146,860 

PIM CO  investments (note 6) 12,956 1,789 - 

Employee benefits (note 18) 29,379 25,971 22,942 

Current tax liabilities - - 1,944 

Total liabilities $343,026 $290,546 $279,031 

 

Equity: 
O ther reserves (note 3.3) $6,000 $6,000 $4,000 

Retained earnings 140,934 141,400 117,523 

Total equity $146,934 $147,400 $121,523 

 

Total liabilities and equity $489,960 $437,946 $400,554 

Commitments (note 17) 

Contingencies (note 22) 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 
(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 Approved by the Board of D irectors 
 

 
Richard Taylor, Chair of the Board of D irectors 
 
  

 

 

 
John H ope, D irector, Chair, Joint Audit Committee 
 
 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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  O ther reserves Retained earnings Total equity  

 

Balance at January 1, 2010 $4,000 $117,522 $121,522 

 

Income for the year - 27,633 27,633 

 

O ther comprehensive loss - (1,755) (1,755) 

 

Transfer to reserves 2,000 (2,000) - 

 

Balance at D ecember 31, 2010 $6,000 $141,400 $147,400 

 

Income for the year - 1,260 1,260  

 

O ther comprehensive loss - (1,726) (1,726) 

 

Transfer to reserves - - - 

 

Balance at D ecember 31, 2011 $6,000 $140,934 $146,934 

 

O ther reserves (note 3.3) 

Consolidated Statements of Income and  

Comprehensive Income 
For the years ended D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010 

 (in thousands of dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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  2011 2010 

 

Billings processed $1,249,684 $1,211,045 

 

Revenue: 

Premium revenue $251,143 $240,963 

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (16,983) (17,257) 

Net insurance premiums $234,160 $223,706 

 

Fees from self-insured plans $36,981 $35,218 

Investment (loss) income (note 7) (1,453) 25,711 

PIM CO  investment loss (note 6) (1,859) (525) 

Commissions earned from reinsurers 3,502 3,214 

O ther income 1,590 1,256 

Total revenues $272,921 $288,580 

 

Claims and expenses: 

Insurance claims incurred (note 8 and 13) $181,334 $172,615 

G eneral and administrative costs (note 19) 81,258 77,935 

Commissions and premium taxes 8,755 9,048 

Total claims and expenses $271,347 $259,598 

 

Income before tax $1,574 $28,982 

 

Income tax (314) (1,349) 

 

Net income $1,260  $27,633 

 

O ther comprehensive loss: 

Pension plan and post-retirement benefits actuarial adjustment (1,726) (1,755) 

(note 18) 

   

Com prehensive incom e/ (loss) $(466) $25,878 

 

Consolidated Statements of Income and  

Comprehensive Income  
For the years ended D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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                                                                                                                                 2011 2010 
 
Cash flow s from  operating activities   
Net income for the year $1,260 $27,633 

Adjustments for   
Amortisation of property and equipment  1,519 1,383 
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,430 2,650 
Realised and unrealised (gain)/loss on investments – net 4,811 (18,459) 
Realised and unrealised loss on PIM CO  fund-net 5,680 2,157 
D eferred taxes (63) (52) 
Loss on disposal of premises and equipment 2 2 
Amortisation of net premiums/discounts on bonds 29 157 
Tax expense 377 1,408 

   
 $16,045 $16,877 
Changes in  non-cash w orking capital   

Trade and other receivables (7,367) (2,396) 
Amounts due from reinsurers (4,623) (2,574) 
Prepaid expenses 239 (176) 
Trade and other payables 11,990 3,343 
Insurance liabilities 11,848 4,007 
Employee benefits 1,682 1,274 
M embers’ dues received in advance 1,124 594 
Income taxes paid (633) (4,148) 

   
 $14,260 $(76) 
   
 $30,305 $16,801 
   
Cash flow s from  investing activities   
Proceeds from sale of investments 17,433 274,730 
Purchase of investments (36,174) (291,199) 
Purchases of property, equipment and intangible assets – net (16,572) (14,549) 
   
 $(35,313) $(31,018) 
   
Decrease in  cash and cash equivalents $(5,008) $(14,217) 

   
Cash and cash equivalents (deficit) - Beginning of year (5,000) 9,217 
   
Cash and cash equivalents (deficit) - End of year $(10,008) $(5,000) 

   
Represented by:   
Cash and cash equivalents 34,041 26,100 
O utstanding cheques (44,049) (31,100) 
   
 $(10,008) $(5,000) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow  
For the years ended D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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1. Background 

PBC H ealth Benefits Society (“the Society”) (operating as Pacific Blue Cross) is incorporated and governed by the British 

Columbia Society Act (and licensed under the Financial Institutions Act of British Columbia) in Canada. The Society is a 

not-for-profit organisation and is engaged in the business of providing extended health and dental benefits to its 

members. Through its w holly ow ned subsidiary, British Columbia Life &  Casualty Company (“BC Life”), the Society 

provides life and accidental death and dismemberment (“AD &D ”) insurance; short-term and long-term disability 

coverage; critical illness coverage; individual life; trip cancellation; and baggage insurance.  The Society and BC Life are 

the sole investors in the PIM CO  Canadian Tactical Bond Fund (“PIM CO  Fund”) w hich is consolidated into these financial 

statements and disclosed in notes 6 and 24 through 36.  The PIM CO  Fund’s objective is to seek absolute positive 

investment performance over a business cycle, w ith bond market-like volatility, consistent w ith prudent investment 

management. 

The Society is registered under the Income Tax Act as a not-for-profit society and, as such, is exempt from income tax. 

BC Life, w hich is incorporated under the British Columbia Life &  Casualty Company Act of 1958, is subject to federal 

and provincial income taxes. The address of the registered office of the Society and BC Life is 4250 Canada W ay, 

Burnaby, British Columbia. 

These consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of D irectors on February 22, 2012 

w ho has sole authority to approve them.  The Board has the authority to amend the financial statements after issue. 

2. IFRS 1 First-tim e Adoption 

O n January 1, 2011, the Society adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) in place of Canadian 

generally accepted accounting principles (“CGAAP”) – Part V of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 

(“CICA”) handbook.  The adoption required retroactive adjustment of comparative figures for the prior year resulting in 

an adjustment to the opening 2010 balance sheet. 

IFRS 1, First-tim e Adoption of IFRS provides a number of exemptions and exceptions from this general principle. 

(a) Exemptions provide relief upon first-time adoption w here the cost or difficulty of restating information to 

comply w ith IFRS might be prohibitive.  Exemptions are optional and the principles underlying exemptions do 

not have to be applied. 

(b) Exceptions are mandatory and must be follow ed.  Exceptions prohibit the retrospective application of some 

IFRS. 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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O ptional exemptions 

The Society has applied the follow ing applicable optional exemptions: 

(a) Employee benefits 

IFRS1 provides the option to recognise all cumulative actuarial gains and losses deferred under CGAAP in the Society’s 

opening equity at the transition date. The Society elected to recognise all cumulative gains and losses that existed at its 

transition date in opening equity at the date of transition.  

The Society has also elected under IFRS1 to disclose the present value of its defined benefit obligations, fair value of 

plan assets, surplus or deficit positions and experience adjustments, prospectively, from the date of transition, building 

up to the required five years of disclosure. 

(b) D esignation of financial assets and liabilities 

IFRS1 permits an entity to irrevocably re-designate certain financial instruments. O n the transition date, the Society 

elected to re-designate its investments from available–for-sale under CGAAP to fair value through income under IFRS.  

(c) Business combinations 

IFRS1 provides the election to apply IFRS3, Business Combinations, retrospectively or prospectively from the transition 

date. The retrospective basis w ould require restatement of all business combinations that occurred prior to the 

transition date or all business combinations that occurred subsequent to a date prior to the transition date selected by 

the Society. The Society elected to prospectively apply IFRS1 to all business combinations subsequent to January 1, 

2010 (Business Combination Election D ate). Accordingly, any business combinations prior to such Business 

Combination Election D ate have not been restated. 

(d) Insurance contracts 

The Society elected to maintain the existing CGAAP requirements under Canadian Asset Liability M ethod (“CALM ”) for 

the measurement of its insurance contracts until the new  IFRS for insurance contracts are completed and become 

effective. 

M andatory exemptions 

The Society has applied the follow ing applicable mandatory exemption: 

(a) Estimates 

At the date of transition, the Society’s estimates under IFRS are consistent w ith the estimates previously made under 

CGAAP. 

 

 

 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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(in thousands of dollars) 
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(b) IFRS1 reconciliations 

IFRS1 requires a reconciliation of equity, comprehensive income and cash flow s reported in accordance w ith CGAAP 

w ith the amounts reported in accordance w ith IFRS. The adoption of IFRS has resulted in certain reclassifications to the 

Society’s Consolidated Balance Sheet, as w ell as changes to the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive 

Income. IFRS 1 requires comparative statements as at D ecember 31, 2010 and as at the transition date of January 1, 

2010 betw een CGAAP statements to IFRS statements. A reconciliation of the Consolidated Balance Sheet and 

Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income from CGAAP to IFRS is presented below . 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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The adoption also required comparative statements as at the end of D ecember 31, 2010 betw een CGAAP statements to 

IFRS statements.   

A summary of the impact on the Balance Sheet of adopting the new  standards is as follow s: 

Com parison of CG AAP to IFRS: 
As at January 1, 2010 

Previous 
CG AAP 

$ 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 
$  

Reclassification 
due to IFRS 

$ 

O pening IFRS 
Balance Sheet 

$ 
      

Assets     
     Cash and cash equivalents  39,617 - - 39,617 
Investments 243,937 - (a) - 243,937 
Trade and other receivables - - 24,700 24,700 
Receivable from members 24,411 - (24,411) - 
Amounts due from reinsurers 53,669 - - 53,669 
Accrued interest 289 - (289) - 
Prepaid expenses 2,979 - - 2,979 
Property and equipment  6,815 - (6,815) - 
Claims processing softw are 28,947 (427) (b)  28,520 
Property and equipment - - 6,815 6,815 
Future income taxes 317 - (317) - 
D eferred tax assets - - 317 317 

      $400,981 $(427) - $400,554 

     Liabilities     
     O utstanding cheques 30,400 - (30,400) - 
Trade and other payables 100,365 - 46,495 146,860 
Liability for unpaid and unreported claims 101,235 - (101,235) - 
Insurance liabilities - - 101,235 101,235 
Employee benefits - - 22,942 22,942 
M embers’ deposits 39,037 - (39,037) - 
M embers’ dues received in advance 6,050 - - 6,050 
Current tax liabilities 1,944 - - 1,944 
D eferred gain on sale of building 2,934 (2,934) (c) - - 

 $281,965 $(2,934) - $279,031 

     
N et Assets     
     Retained earnings - 3,209 (b)(d)(e) 114,314 117,523 
O ther reserves - - 4,000 4,000 

Investment in property, equipment and 
claims processing softw are 35,762 - (35,762) - 

Stabilisation account 78,552 - (78,552) - 
Internally restricted foundation fund 4,000 - (4,000) - 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 702 (702) (d) - - 

      $119,016 $2,507 - $121,523 

      $400,981 $(427) - $400,554 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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(a) Investments redesignation to account for investment portfolio at fair value through profit and loss 

(b) Removal of “know ledge share” costs w ithin capitalised property and equipment as not permitted to be 

capitalised under IFRS 

(c) Removal of deferred gain on sale of property as should be recognised on sale date under IFRS 

(d) Removal of accumulated other comprehensive income due to the redesignation of investment portfolio. 

Total equity under previous CGAAP $119,016 

Claims processing softw are “know ledge transfer” (427) 

Removal of deferred gain on sale of property       2,934 

Total equity under IFRS $121,523 

 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
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Com parison of CG AAP to IFRS: 
As at Decem ber 31, 2010 

Previous 
CG AAP 

$ 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 
$  

Reclassification 
due to IFRS 

$ 
IFRS 

$ 
      

Assets    
    Cash and cash equivalents  26,100 - - 26,100
Investments 276,321 - (a) (143,225) 133,096
PIM CO  investments - - 145,064 145,064
Trade and other receivables - - 27,096 27,096
Receivable from members 26,610 - (26,610) -
Amounts due from reinsurers 56,248 - - 56,248
Accrued interest 486 - (486) -
Income tax recoverable 790 6 (e) - 796
Prepaid expenses 3,155 - - 3,155
Property and equipment  6,736 - - 6,736
Intangible assets 39,749 (413) (b) (50) 39,286
Future income taxes 369 - (369) -
D eferred tax assets - - 369 369

     $436,564 $(407) $1,789 $437,946

    Liabilities    
    O utstanding cheques 31,100 - (31,100) -
Trade and other payables 107,488 - 43,412 150,900
PIM CO  investments - - 1,789 1,789
Liability for unpaid and unreported claims 105,242 - (105,242) -
Insurance liabilities - - 105,242 105,242
Employee benefits - - 25,971 25,971
M embers’ deposits 38,283 - (38,283) -
M embers’ dues received in advance 6,644 - - 6,644
Income taxes payable - - - -
D eferred gain on sale of building 2,644 (2,644) (c) - -

 $291,401 $(2,644) $1,789 $290,546

    
N et Assets    
    Retained earnings - 2,237 (b)(c)(d) 139,163 141,400
O ther reserves - - 6,000 6,000

Investment in property, equipment and claims 
processing softw are 46,300 - (46,300) -

Stabilization account 82,797 - (82,797) -
Internally restricted foundation fund 6,000 - (6,000) -
Accumulated other comprehensive income 10,066 - (10,066) -
     $145,163 $2,237 - $147,400

     $436,564 $(407) $1,789 $437,946
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(a) Investments redesignation to account for investment portfolio at fair value through profit and loss 

(b) Removal of “know ledge share” costs w ithin capitalised property and equipment as not permitted to be 

capitalised under IFRS and reversal of 2010 amortisation 

(c) Removal of deferred gain on sale of property, as should be recognised on sale date under IFRS and reversal of 

2010 amortisation 

(d) Reclassification of accumulated other comprehensive income 

(e) Adjust income tax expense 

Total equity under previous CGAAP $145,163 

Claims processing softw are “know ledge transfer” (427) 

Reversal of 2010 amortisation 14 

Removal of deferred gain on sale of property 2,934 

Reversal of 2010 amortisation (290) 

Income tax payable              6 

Total equity under IFRS $147,400 
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A summary of the impact on the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income of adopting the new  

standards is as follow s: 

Com parison of CG AAP to IFRS: 
For the year ended Decem ber 31, 2010 

Previous 
CG AAP 

$ 

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRS 
$  

Reclassification 
due to IFRS 

$ 
IFRS  

$ 
      

Billings processed $1,211,045 -  - $1,211,045

Revenue     
M embers’ dues earned from prepaid health 

plans 240,963 -  (240,963) -
Fees from self-insured plans 35,218 -  (35,218) -
     
Total revenue $276,181 -  $(276,181) -
Premium revenue - -  240,963 240,963
Premiums ceded to reinsurers (17,257) -  - (17,257)

Net insurance premiums $258,924 -  $(35,218) $223,706
     
Fees from self-insured plans - -  35,218 35,218
Investment income - - (a) 25,711 25,711
Investment loss from PIM CO  fund - -  (525) (525)
Commission from reinsurers 3,214 -  - 3,214
O ther income 1,256 -  - 1,256

Total revenues  $263,394 -  $25,186 $288,580
     
Expenses     
M embers’ claims 172,615 -  (172,615) -
Insurance claims incurred - -  172,615 172,615
G eneral and administrative costs 75,377 (1,465) (d)(g) 4,023 77,935
Commissions and premium taxes 9,048 -  - 9,048
Amortisation 4,048 (14) (b) (4,034) -

     
Total claims and expenses  $261,088 $(1,479)  $(11) 259,598

     
Incom e before tax  2,306 1,479  25,197 28,982
     
Net investment income 15,928 9,258 (d)(f) (25,186) -

Excess of revenue over expenses before 
income taxes $18,234 $10,737  $11 $28,982

     
Provision for (recovery of) income taxes     
Current 1,514 (113) (e) (52) 1,349
Future (52) -  52 -
 $1,462 $(113)  - $1,349
     
N et incom e $16,772 $10,850  $11 $27,633
O ther comprehensive loss - (1,755) (f) - (1,755)
Com prehensive incom e $16,772 $9,095  $11 $25,878
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(a) Investments redesignation to account for investment portfolio at fair value through profit and loss 

(b) Removal of “know ledge share” costs w ithin capitalised property and equipment as not permitted to be 

capitalised under IFRS and reversal of 2010 amortisation 

(c) Removal of deferred gain on sale of property, as should be recognised on sale date under IFRS and reversal of 

2010 amortisation 

(d) Reclassification of accumulated other comprehensive income 

(e) Adjust income tax expense 

(f) Reclassification of transitional obligation to comprehensive income 

Comprehensive income under CGAAP  $16,772 

Reversal of 2010 amortisation 14 

Reversal of 2010 amortisation (290) 

Adjust unrealised/realised gains to investment income 9,258 

Income tax payable 113 

IFRS reclass          11 

Comprehensive income under IFRS $25,878 
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3. Sum m ary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 

below .  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherw ise stated.  Accounting 

policies relating to the PIM CO  Fund are set out in notes 6, 24 through 36. 

 

3.1. Basis of Presentation 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance w ith IFRS as defined by International 

Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 1.  They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by 

the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through income and employee benefit obligations. 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity w ith IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Society’s 

accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas w here 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed below  and in 

note 4. 

 

All amounts in the notes are show n in thousands of Canadian dollars rounded to the nearest thousand, unless 

otherw ise stated. 

 

(a) Standards and am endm ents to published standards and interpretations early adopted by the Society. 

 

In 2011, the Society did not early adopt any new , revised or amended standards. 

 

(b) Standards and interpretations effective in 2011 but not relevant to the Society’s operations. 
 

 

Standard/ 

Interpretation 

 

 

Content 

Applicable for financial 

years beginning 

on/after 

IAS 20 Accounting for G overnment G rants and 

D isclosure of G overnment Assistance 

(amendment) 

January 1,2009 

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in H yperinflationary 

Economies 

January 1,2009 

IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures (and consequential 

amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7) 

January 1, 2009 

IAS 32 Classification of rights issues (amendment) February 1, 2010 

IAS 32 and IAS 1 Puttable financial instruments and obligations 

arising on liquidation 

January 1, 2009 

IAS 41 Agriculture January 1, 2009 

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs July 1, 2008 

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate January 1, 2009 

IFRS 5 M easurement of non-current assets (or disposal 

groups) classified as held for sale (amendment) 

July 1, 2009 

IFRIC 17 D istribution of Non-cash Assets to O w ners July 1, 2009 

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers July 1, 2009 
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(c) Standards, am endm ents and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been 

early adopted by the Society. 

 

The follow ing standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory for the 

Society’s accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010 or later periods, but the Society has not early 

adopted them: 

 

Standard/ 

Interpretation 

 

 

Content 

Applicable for financial 

years beginning 

on/after 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments January 1, 2015 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements January 1, 2013 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements January 1, 2013 

IFRS 12 D isclosures of Interests in O ther Entities January 1, 2013 

IFRS 13 Fair Value M easurement January 1, 2013 

 

� IFRS 9, Financial instruments 

IFRS 9 w as issued in November 2009. It addresses classification and measurement of financial assets and 

replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments w ith a new  mixed 

measurement having only tw o categories: Amortised cost and fair value through income. IFRS 9 also 

replaces the models for measuring equity instruments and such measurements are either recognised at 

fair value through income or at fair value through O ther Comprehensive Income (“O CI”). W here such 

equity investments are measured at fair value through O CI, dividends, to the extent not clearly 

representing a return on investment, are recognised in income; how ever, other gains and losses (including 

impairments) associated w ith such instruments remain in Accumulated O ther Comprehensive Income 

(“AO CI”) indefinitely. This standard is required to be applied for accounting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2015. The Society has not yet assessed the impact of the standard. 

 

� IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 

IFRS 10 requires an entity to consolidate an investee w hen it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement w ith the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through it pow er over the 

investee. U nder existing IFRS, consolidation is required w hen an entity has the pow er to govern financial 

and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 replaces SIC-12, 

Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and parts of IAS 27, Consolidation and Separate Financial 

Statements. The Society has not yet assessed the impact of the standard. 

 

� IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 

IFRS 11 requires a venturer to classify its interest in a joint venture arrangement as a joint venture or joint 

operation. Joint ventures w ill be accounted for using the equity method of accounting w hereas for a joint 

operation the venturer w ill recognise its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint 

operation. U nder existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account 

for interests in joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 3, Interests in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly 

Controlled Entities- Non-monetary Contributions by Venturers. The Society has not yet assessed the 

impact of the standard. 
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� IFRS 12, D isclosure of Interests in O ther Entities  

IFRS 12 establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, 

associates, and special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carried forw ard 

existing disclosures and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the 

nature of, and risk associated w ith an entity’s interest in other entities. The Society has not yet assessed the 

impact of the standard. 

 

� IFRS 13, Fair Value M easurement 

IFRS 13 establishes a comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for 

use across all IFRS standards. The new  standard clarifies that fair value is the price that w ould be received 

to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction betw een market participants, at the 

measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. The Society has not yet 

assessed the impact of the standard. 

 

� Amendment to O ther Standards 

In addition, there have been amendments to existing standards, including IAS1 First –Time Adoption of 

Financial Statements, addressing severe hyperinflation and removal of fixed dates for first time adopter.  

IAS 19 amendments eliminate the corridor approach and presentation changes, IAS 27, Consolidated and 

Separate Financial Statements, and IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. IAS 27 addresses 

accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates in non-consolidated financial 

statements. IAS 28 has been amended to include joint ventures in its scope and to address the changes in 

IFRS 10-13. The Society has not yet assessed the impact of this amendment. 

 

� Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments–D isclosures 

An amendment w as issued w hich requires additional disclosures in respect of risk exposures arising from 

transferred financial assets. This amendment is effective for annual periods on or after July 1, 2011. The 

Society has determined no impact to its disclosure requirements as a result of this amendment.  

 

� Amendment to IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts 

Among recently published Exposure D rafts w as the July 30, 2010 Exposure D raft on Phase II of IFRS 4, 

Insurance Contracts, w hich covers the valuation and recognition of insurance contracts. The comment 

period ended on November 30, 2010. Phase II of the standard should take effect in 2013 at the earliest. The 

International Accounting Standards Board’s (IASB’s) proposed accounting method for recognising 

insurance contracts separates the evaluation of the insurance liability from the assets that they are 

matched to. Consequently, these proposals could lead to a large increase in insurance liabilities and 

required equity on initial adoption and major volatility in results. The Society has not yet assessed the 

impact of this amendment. 

 

3.2. Consolidation 

 
(a) Subsidiaries 

 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over w hich the Society has the pow er to govern 

the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting 

rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are 

considered w hen assessing w hether the Society controls another entity.  Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 

the date on w hich control is transferred to the Society.  They are de-consolidated from the date on w hich control 
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ceases.  The subsidiaries, w hich are consolidated in these financial statements, are BC Life (all shares 100% ow ned 

by the Society), M SA Business Services Ltd (dormant subsidiary all shares 100% ow ned by Society) and the PIM CO  

Fund of w hich the Society and BC Life are the sole investors at D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010. 

 

The Society uses the purchase method of accounting to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries.  The cost of 

an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred 

or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at 

their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.  The excess of the cost 

of acquisition over the fair value of the Society’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as 

goodw ill.  If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 

difference is recognised directly in the income statement. 

 

All inter-group transactions, balances and gains and losses on inter-group transactions are eliminated.   

 

3.3. Fund accounting 

 
D uring 2007, an internally restricted fund w as set aside for future funding of a Foundation. The funds w ill be 

forw arded to a Foundation to be established by the Society at a future date to be determined by the Board of 

D irectors. D uring 2011, no additional funds (2010: $2 million) w ere designated for this fund. 

 

3.4. Foreign currency translation 

 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Society’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in w hich the entity operates (the functional currency).  The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in thousands of Canadian ($) w hich is the Society’s functional and 

presentation currency. 

 

(b) Transactions and balances 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.  Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 

in the income statement w ithin general and administrative costs. 

 

Translation differences on financial assets held at fair value through income are reported as part of investment 

income.   
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3.5. Property and equipm ent and am ortisation 

 

All classes of assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.   

 

Amortisation is charged annually on a straight-line basis at the follow ing rates: 

 

Leasehold improvements term of lease 

Property and equipment (including computer hardw are) 10% - 33 1/3% 

Computer softw are 10% - 100% 

Individual plan administrative system 10% 

Administration claims enrolment system 10% 

 

Amortisation is based on estimated useful lives as follow s: 

 

Leasehold improvements 15 years 

Property and equipment (including computer hardw are) 3-10 years 

Computer softw are 1-10 years 

Individual plan administrative system 10 years 

Administration claims enrolment system 10 years 

 

Amortisation is currently recorded on that part of the individual plan administrative system or administration 

claims enrolment system that is in production. Certain parts of the assets are still in the course of development 

and are not yet available for use and therefore, amortisation is not recorded. 

 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are review ed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted, if 

appropriate, w ith the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

 

An asset’s carrying amount is w ritten dow n immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment of property and equipment is determined by 

policy in note 3.9. 

 

G ains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds w ith the carrying amount.  

These are included in the income statement in general and administrative costs. 

 

3.6. Intangible assets 

 

(a) Com puter softw are 

 

Costs associated w ith maintaining computer softw are programs are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

D evelopment costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique softw are 

products controlled by the Society are recognised as intangible assets w hen the follow ing criteria are met: 

 

� It is technically feasible to complete the softw are product so that it w ill be available for use; 

� M anagement intends to complete the softw are product and use it; 

� There is an ability to use the softw are products; 

� It can be demonstrated how  the softw are product w ill generate probable future economic benefits; 

� Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the softw are 

product are available; and  
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� The expenditure attributable to the softw are product during its development can be reliably measured. 

 

D irectly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the softw are product include the softw are development, 

employee costs and an appropriate portion of directly attributable overheads. 

 

O ther development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.  

D evelopment costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 

 

The amortisation policy is described in note 3.5 for this asset. 

 

Computer softw are development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their useful lives, w hich do not 

exceed ten years. Impairment of intangible assets is under policy note 3.9. 

 

3.7. Financial assets 

 

The Society classifies its financial assets into the follow ing categories: at fair value through income, and loans and 

receivables. The classification is determined by management at initial recognition and depends on the purpose 

for w hich the assets w ere acquired.  

 

3.7.1. Classification 

 

(a) Financial assets at fair value through incom e 

 

This category has tw o sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and those designated at fair value through 

income at inception. 

 

A financial asset is classified into the “financial assets at fair value through income” category at inception if acquired 

principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term, if it forms part of a portfolio of financial assets in w hich there 

is evidence of short-term profit-taking, or if so designated by management. 

 

Financial assets designated as at fair value through income at inception are those that are: 

� held in internal funds to match insurance and investment contracts liabilities that are linked to the changes in 

fair value of these assets.  The designation of these assets to be fair value through income eliminates or 

significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as ‘an accounting 

mismatch’) that w ould otherw ise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses 

on them on different bases; and 

� managed and w hose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.  Information about these financial assets is 

provided internally on a fair value basis to the Society’s key management personnel.  The Society’s investment 

strategy is to invest in equity and debt securities and to evaluate them w ith reference to their fair values.  

Assets that are part of these portfolios are designated upon initial recognition at fair value through income 

(see note 6 and 7 for additional details on the Society’s investment portfolio structure). 

 

(b) Receivables 

 

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets w ith fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market other than those that the Society intends to sell in the short-term or that it has designated as at 

fair value through income.  Receivables arising from insurance contracts are also classified in this category and 

are review ed for impairment as part of the impairment review  of receivables.  
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3.7.2. Recognition and m easurem ent 

 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date the date on w hich the Society commits to 

purchase or sell the asset. 

 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of all financial assets not carried at fair value 

through income, transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition. Financial assets carried at fair 

value through income are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income 

statement. 

 

Financial assets are derecognised w hen the rights to receive cash flow s from them have expired or w here they 

have been transferred and the Society has also transferred substantially all risks and rew ards of ow nership. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through income are subsequently carried at fair value w ith the change in fair value 

being recorded in investment income in the Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. 

Receivables are carried at cost. 

 

G ains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through income’ category 

are included in the income statement in the period in w hich they arise.   

 

Interest on securities is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the Consolidated 

Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. D ividends are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of 

Income and Comprehensive Income w hen the Society’s right to receive payments is established. Both are included 

in investment income. 

 

See Note 3.9 for the Society’s accounting policies relating to the impairment of financial assets. 

 

3.7.3. Determ ination of fair value 

 

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair values of financial assets and financial 

liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.  This includes listed equity securities and 

quoted debt instruments on major exchanges.  The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the 

Society is the current bid price. 

 

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 

from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry society, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent 

actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  If the above criteria are not met, the 

market is regarded as being inactive. 

 

For example a market is inactive w hen there is a w ide bid-offer spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread 

or there are few  recent transactions. 

 

For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.  In these techniques, fair 

values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial instruments. 
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The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their 

fair values.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 

contractual cash flow s at the current market interest rate that is available to the Society for similar financial 

instruments. 

 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices.  If the market for a financial asset is not 

active, the Society establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.  These include the use of recent arm’s 

length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow  analysis 

and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific 

inputs. 

 

3.8. Reclassification of financial assets 

 

Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified out of the held-for-trading 

category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the 

near-term.  In addition, the Society may choose to reclassify financial assets that w ould meet the definition of 

loans and receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-for-sale categories if the Society has the intention 

and ability to hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification. 

 

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date.  Fair value becomes the new  cost or 

amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before reclassification date 

are subsequently made.  Effective interest rates for financial assets are reclassified to loans and receivables and 

held-to-maturity categories are determined at the reclassification date.  Further increases in estimates of cash 

flow s adjust effective interest rates prospectively. 

 

3.9. Im pairm ent of assets 

 

(a) Financial assets carried at am ortised cost 

 

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is 

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition 

of the asset (a ‘loss’ event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flow s of the 

financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.   

 

Individually significant financial assets are assessed for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining 

financial assets are included in a group of financial assets w ith similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 

assessed for impairment. 

 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on financial assets carried at amortised 

cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference betw een the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

value of estimated future cash flow s discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  The 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allow ance account, and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in the income statement. 

 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment w as recognised, the previously recognised impairment 

loss is reversed by adjusting the allow ance account.  The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income 

statement. 
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(b) Im pairm ent of other non-financial assets 

 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are review ed for impairment at least annually or w henever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets w ith a 

finite life are evaluated annually for impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by w hich the 

asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

value less costs to sell and value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 

low est levels for w hich there are separately identifiable cash flow s (cash-generating units). 

 

3.10. O ffsetting financial instrum ents 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet only 

w hen there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 

net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

3.11. Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities include bank indebtedness, trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are initially 

measured at fair value and then carried at amortised cost.  A liability is removed from the consolidated balance 

sheet w hen the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 

3.12. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call w ith banks, other short-term highly liquid 

investments w ith original maturities of three months or less, net of bank overdrafts. 

 

3.13. Insurance and investm ent contracts - classification 

 

The Society issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.  Insurance contracts are those 

contracts that transfer significant insurance risk.  Such contracts may also transfer financial risk.  As a general 

guideline, the Society defines as significant insurance risk the possibility of having to pay benefits on the 

occurrence of an insured event that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not 

occur. 
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3.14. Insurance contracts  
 

(a) Long-term  disability insurance contracts  

 

These annual contracts insure events associated w ith human life (for example, disability or death) over a long 

duration.  Long–term insurance disability contracts protect Society members in the event of long-term disability. 

 

Premiums are recognised as revenue w hen they become payable by the contract holder.  Premiums are show n 

before deduction of commission. Benefits are recorded as an expense w hen they are incurred. 

 

A liability for contractual benefits that are expected to be paid in the future is recorded w hen the claim is 

incurred.  The liability is determined as the sum of the expected discounted value of the projected benefit 

payments and the future administration expenses that are directly related to the claim.  The liability is based on 

assumptions as to mortality, morbidity, claims, experience, expenses and investment income.  A margin for 

adverse deviation is included in the assumptions. These assumptions may be revised depending on emerging 

experience and changing expectations regarding future experience. 

 

The liabilities are recalculated at each end of the reporting period using the assumptions established during the 

year and on a consistent basis w ith prior years. The liabilities are determined in accordance w ith Canadian 

accepted actuarial practice and any requirements of the Financial Institutions Commission (“FICO M ”). As 

confirmed by guidance provided by Canadian Institute of Actuaries (“CIA”), the current Canadian Asset Liability 

M ethod (“CALM ”) of valuation of insurance contracts satisfies the IFRS 4 Insurance contracts for eligibility for use 

under IFRS. 

 

(b) Short-term  insurance contracts 

 

Short-term insurance contracts protect Society’s members for losses arising from life, accidental death and 

dismemberment and critical illness risks. They also protect customers from losses on short-term disability due to 

illness, injury or disability.  

 

Short-term insurance contracts protect the Society’s members or the claims in the Extended H ealth and D ental 

benefits. They protect the customer from costs of such services and allow  them to maintain their current level of 

income. They also protect customers from costs due to illness and sickness.  

 

(c) Reinsurance contracts held 

 

Contracts entered into by the Society w ith reinsurers under w hich the Society is compensated for losses on one 

or more contracts issued by the Society are classified as reinsurance contracts held.   

 

The benefits to w hich the Society is entitled under its reinsurance contracts held are recognised as reinsurance 

assets.  These assets consist of short-term balances due from reinsurers, as w ell as longer term receivables that 

are depended on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured insurance contracts.  

Amounts recoverable from or due to reinsurers are measured consistently w ith the amounts associated w ith the 

reinsured insurance contracts and in accordance w ith the terms of each reinsurance contract.  Reinsurance 

liabilities are primarily premiums payable for reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense w hen due. 

 

The Society assesses its reinsurance assets for impairment on a regular basis.  If there is objective evidence that 

the reinsurance asset is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount of the reinsurance asset to the 
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recoverable amount and recognises that impairment loss in the income statement.  The Society gathers the 

objective evidence that a reinsurance asset is impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets held 

at amortised cost.  The impairment loss is calculated follow ing the same method used for these financial assets.  

These processes are described in note 3.9. 

 

(d) Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts and investm ent contracts 

 

Receivables and payables are recognised w hen due.  These include amounts due to and from agents, brokers 

and insurance contract holders. 

 

If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount 

of the insurance receivable accordingly and recognises that impairment loss in the income statement.  The 

Society gathers the objective evidence that the insurance receivable is impaired using the same process adopted 

for loans and receivables.  The impairment loss is calculated under the same method used for these financial 

assets.  These processes are described in note 3.9. 

 

3.15. Current and deferred incom e tax 

 

The Society is not subject to income tax, how ever; taxes apply to its w holly ow ned subsidiary, BC Life.  

 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.  Tax is recognised in the income statement, 

except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In 

this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax law s enacted or substantively enacted at the 

end of the reporting period w here the Society’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.  M anagement 

periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns w ith respect to situations in w hich applicable tax regulation 

is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions w here appropriate. 

 

D eferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising betw een the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  H ow ever, if 

the deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a 

business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss, it 

is not accounted for.  D eferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and law s) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply w hen the related deferred 

income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 

D eferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income w ill be 

available against w hich the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 

D eferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, 

except w here the Society controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 

the temporary difference w ill not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

D eferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset w hen there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied 

by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities w here there is an 

intention to settle the balances on a net basis. 
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3.16. Em ployee benefits 

 

(a) Pension obligations 

 

The Society operates various pension schemes.  The schemes are generally funded through payments to 

insurance companies or Trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations.  The Society 

has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.  

 

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee w ill receive 

on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.   

 

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under w hich the Society pays fixed contributions into a separate 

entity.  The Society has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 

sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 

 

The liability recognised on the consolidated balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 

present value of the defined benefit obligations at the end of the financial reporting period less the fair value of 

plan assets.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected 

unit credit method.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the 

estimated future cash outflow s using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the 

currency in w hich the benefits w ill be paid and that have terms to maturity that approximate the terms of the 

related pension liability. 

 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

charged or credited to other comprehensive income in the year of the adjustment. 

 

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional 

on the employees remaining in service or a specified period of time (the vesting period).  In this case, the past-

service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

 

For defined contribution plans, the Society pays contributions to privately administered pension plans on a 

mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.  The Society has no further payment obligations once the 

contributions have been paid.  The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expenses w hen they are 

due.  Pre-paid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 

future payments is available. 

 

(b) O ther post-em ploym ent obligations 

 

The Society provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to their retirees.  The entitlement to these benefits is 

usually conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a 

minimum service period.  The expected costs for these benefits are accrued over the period of employment 

using an accounting methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans.  Actuarial gains and losses 

arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to other 

comprehensive income.  Independent qualified actuaries value these obligations annually. 

 

(c) Term ination benefits 

 

Termination benefits are payable w hen employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or 

w henever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Society recognises 
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termination benefits w hen it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current 

employees according to a detailed formal plan w ithout possibility of w ithdraw al; or providing termination 

benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than 12 

months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value. 

 

(d) Profit-sharing and bonus plans 

 

The Society recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that takes 

into consideration the profit attributable to the Society’s members after certain adjustments.  The Society 

recognises a provision w here contractually obliged or w here there is a past practice that has created a 

constructive obligation. 

 

3.17. Provisions 
 

Levies 

 

The Society and its subsidiaries are subject to various insurance-related assessments or guarantee-fund levies.  

Related provisions are provided for w here there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event.  No such provision w as required at D ecember 31, 2011 (2010: Nil).  

 

3.18. Billings processed 
 

Billings processed represent all billings rendered by the Society. 

 

3.19. Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue comprises the fair value for services, net of applicable taxes, after eliminating revenue w ithin the 

Society.  Revenue is recognised as follow s: 

 

(a) Rendering of services 

 

For insurance contracts, revenue (earned premiums) is recognised proportionally over the period of coverage. 

The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the balance sheet date is 

reported as members’ dues received in advance. Premiums are show n before deductions of sales and service fees 

and are gross of premium taxes. 

 

Fees from self-insured plans consist primarily of administrative fees resulting from Administrative Services O nly 

(“ASO ”) contracts.  The Society manages the benefits of employees on behalf of a client for a service fee based on 

claims paid. A fixed deposit is received at the setup of the contract and any amounts paid (including the 

administration fee) are fully reimbursed by the client. 

 

Revenue arising from ASO  and other services offered is recognised in the accounting period in w hich the services 

are rendered. 
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(b) Interest incom e and expenses 

 

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments, including financial instruments 

measured at fair value through income, are recognised w ithin ‘investment income’ in the consolidated statement 

of income and comprehensive income using the effective interest rate method.   

 

W hen a receivable is impaired, the Society reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the 

estimated future cash flow s discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues 

unw inding the discount as interest income. 

 

(c) D ividend incom e 

 

D ividend income is recognised w hen the right to receive payment is established. 

 

3.20. Leases 
 

Leases in w hich a significant portion of the risks and rew ards of ow nership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 

lessor) are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

 

The Society leases certain property and equipment.  The Society does not have substantially all the risks and 

rew ards of ow nership and these leases are therefore classified as operating leases. 
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4. Critical accounting estim ates and judgem ents 

The Society makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities w ithin the 

next financial year.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and 

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

(a) The ultim ate liability arising from  claim s m ade under insurance contracts 

 

The estimation of the ultimate liability arising from claims made under insurance contracts is the Society’s most 

critical accounting estimate. 

 

(b) Estim ate of future benefit paym ents arising from  long-term  disability insurance claim s 

 

Products covered in this area are Long-Term D isability for group clients.  The determination of the liabilities under 

long-term disability is dependent on estimates made by Society 

 

(c) Estim ate of future benefit paym ents and prem ium  arising from  short-term  insurance claim s 

 

Products covered in this category include life, accidental death and dismemberment, and critical illness benefits. 

The short-term nature of these claims means that movement in claims development assumptions are generally not 

significant. The development patterns are monitored closely to maintain the validity of the assumptions, and 

hence, the validity of the estimation of insurance liabilities. 

 

(d) Estim ate of reserves for short-term  health and dental contracts 

 

Products covered in this area are health and dental for groups and individual members. 

The short- term nature of the Society’s health and dental contracts means that movement in claims development 

assumptions are generally not significant. The development patterns are kept under constant review  to maintain 

the validity of the assumptions and hence, the validity of the estimation of recognised insurance liabilities. 

 

Assum ptions used in  accounting estim ates and judgem ents 

 

The Society’s valuation methods involve the use of best estimates for the follow ing assumptions: mortality, 

morbidity, investment yields and expense levels. Actual experience is monitored against these assumptions to 

ensure that they remain reasonable. 

 

Any change in assumptions w ill cause a corresponding change in insurance liabilities, w hich is recognised in 

income immediately. The follow ing outlines the significant assumptions used and the methods in arriving at these 

estimates: 

 

(a) M ortality 

The mortality assumption varies by type of contract, and is based on the Society’s aggregate experience or on 

industry experience modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if appropriate. 
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(b) M orbidity 

The rate of morbidity refers to the incidence of accident and sickness, and the termination of disability due to death 

or recovery. This assumption is based on aggregate the Society’s aggregate experience or industry experience 

modified to reflect the Society’s emerging experience if appropriate. 

 

(c) Expenses 

Amounts are included in insurance liabilities to provide for the cost of administering incurred claims. W here 

applicable, allow ances for future expenses are based on Society experience projected into the future w ith an 

allow ance for inflation consistent w ith the investment yield. 

 

(d) Investment yields 

The amount and timing of cash flow s arising from both the insurance liabilities and the assets supporting them are 

projected. These cash flow s are combined w ith reinvestment rates, derived from the current economic outlook and 

the Society’s investment policy, to establish expected rates of return for all future years, including reasonable 

provisions for asset default. 

 

(e) Provision for adverse deviation 

A margin is included in each assumption to recognise the uncertainty in establishing best estimate assumptions, 

to allow  for possible deterioration in experience and to provide greater comfort that insurance liabilities are 

adequate to pay future benefits. A range of allow able margins is prescribed by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries 

(“CIA”). As the experience of future accounting periods emerges, any provision not required to cover adverse 

deviations w ill be included in income for that period. 
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5. M anagem ent of insurance and financial risk 

The Society issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both.  This section summarises these risks 

and the w ay the Society manages them. 

 

5.1.1 Insurance risk 

 

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that the insured event occurs and the uncertainty 

of the amount of the resulting claim.  By the very nature of an insurance contract, this risk is random and 

therefore unpredictable. 

 

For a portfolio of insurance contracts w here the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, 

the principal risk that the Society faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit 

payments exceed the carrying amount of the insurance liabilities.  This could occur because the frequency or 

severity of claims and benefits are greater than estimated.  Insurance events are random, and the actual 

number and amount of claims and benefits w ill vary from year to year from the level established using 

statistical techniques.   

 

Experience show s that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability 

about the expected outcome w ill be.  In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected by a 

change in any subset of the portfolio.  The Society has developed its insurance underw riting strategy to 

diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and w ithin each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large 

population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome. 

 

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk diversification in terms of the type and amount of risk, 

geographical location and the type of industry covered. 

 

(a) Sources of uncertainty in the estim ation of future claim  paym ents 

 

The Society is liable for all insured events that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is not 

reported until after the end of the contract term.  Liability claims for long-term disability are settled over a long 

period of time. The liability for these contracts therefore comprises a provision for claims incurred but not 

reported and a provision for reported claims not yet paid. 

 

The Society takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims 

exposures.  H ow ever, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome 

w ill prove to be different from the original liability established.      

 

(b) Process used to decide on assum ptions 

 

The risks associated w ith long-term and short-term insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number 

of variables that complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis.  D etails of the assumptions used are included in 

note 4. 
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5.1.2 Long-term  disability contracts 

 

(a) Frequency and severity of claim s 

 

For contracts w here the insured risk is long-term disability, the most significant factors are rates of incidence of 

disability and rates of termination from disability - these factors are referred to as morbidity risk.  

 

At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Society.  

H ow ever, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit payments on a 

portfolio basis. 

 

The risk of disability w ill vary by industry.  U ndue concentration of risk by industry w ill therefore increase the 

risk of a change in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of employees in a given industry, w ith 

significant effects on the overall insurance risk. 

 

The risk exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 

 

Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the industry.  H istorical 

data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry w ill increase the number of claims for disability 

benefits as w ell as reducing the rate of recovery from disability.  The Society attempts to manage this risk 

through its underw riting, claims handling and reinsurance policy.  The amount of disability benefit cover 

provided per individual is restricted to a maximum of 75% of the individual’s monthly income.   

 

The Society charges for morbidity risk on a monthly basis for all insurance contracts.  It has the right to alter 

these charges annually based on its morbidity experience and hence minimise its exposure to morbidity risk.  

D elays in implementing increases in charges and market restraints over the extent of the increase may reduce 

its mitigating effect.  The Society manages these risks through its underw riting strategy and reinsurance 

arrangements. 

 

The underw riting strategy is intended to ensure that the risks underw ritten are w ell diversified in terms of type 

of risk and the level of insured benefits.  For example, the Society balances morbidity risk across its portfolio.  

The Society has reinsurance on any single life insured.  The Society reinsures the excess of the insured benefit 

over risks under an excess of loss reinsurance arrangement.  It also has reinsurance in place for morbidity risk. 
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The table below  presents the concentration of insured benefits across bands of insured benefits per individual 

LTD  insured.  The benefit insured figures are show n gross and net of the reinsurance contracts described 

above.   

 

 Total benefits insured 

M onthly benefits 

insured per life at 

the end of 2011 

 

 

Before reinsurance 

 

 

After reinsurance 

$0-1,000 $232 0.4% $68 0.4% 

$1,000-2,000 $7,831 12.2% $2,290 12.2% 

$2,000-3,000 $22,543 35.1% $6,591 35.1% 

$3,000-4,000 $19,182 29.9% $5,609 29.9% 

$4,000+ $14,452 22.4% $4,226 22.4% 

Total $64,240 100% $18,783 100% 

 

The risk spread has not changed significantly from last year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Society has factored the impact of contract holders’ behaviour into the assumptions used to measure 

these liabilities. (see note 4). 

 

(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estim ation of future benefit paym ents. 

 

Uncertainty in the estimation of future benefit payments for long-term disability insurance contracts arises 

from the unpredictability of long-term changes in overall levels of morbidity. 

 

For incurred disability income claims, it is necessary to estimate the rates of recovery from disability for future 

years.  Standard industry recovery tables are used as w ell as the actual experience of the Society.  The influence 

 Total benefits insured 

M onthly benefits 

insured per life at 

the end of 2010 

 

 

Before reinsurance 

 

 

After reinsurance 

$0-1,000 $273 0.4% $84 0.4% 

$1,000-2,000 $7,956 13.1% $2,457 13.1% 

$2,000-3,000 $24,521 40.3% 
$7,574 

40.3% 

$3,000-4,000 $16,317 26.8% $5,040 26.8% 

$4,000+ $11,831 19.4% $3,655 19.4% 

Total $60,898 100% $18,810 100% 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 39 

of economic circumstances on the actual recovery rate for individual contracts is a source of uncertainty for 

these estimates. 

 

(c) Process used to decide on assum ptions 

 

For long-term disability insurance contracts, the assumptions used to determine the liabilities are updated at 

each reporting date to reflect the latest estimates.  Assumptions used in the estimates include morbidity, 

investment yields, expenses and provisions for adverse deviation as outlined in note 4. 

 

The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note as outlined in note 4 are as follow s: 

 

� M orbidity 

The rate of incidence of disability is based on the Society’s aggregate experience. The rate of recovery from 

disability is derived from industry experience studies, adjusted w here appropriate for the Society’s ow n 

experience. 

 

� M ortality 

The mortality assumption is based on industry experience modified to reflect the Society‘s emerging 

experience as appropriate. 

 

� Projected Investm ent yields 

Projected investment returns affect the assumed level of future benefits due to the contract holders and the 

selection of the appropriate discount rate. 

 

� Claim s expense level and inflation 

Allow ances for claims expenses are based on the Society‘s experience projected into the future w ith an 

allow ance for inflation consistent w ith the investment yield.  The current level of expenses is taken as an 

appropriate expense base. 

 

� Tax 

It has been assumed that current tax legislation and rates continue unaltered. 

 

(d) Change in assum ptions 

 

The Society did not materially change some if its assumptions, from prior year, for the insurance contracts 

disclosed in this note. 
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Long-term  disability contracts  

 

  Change in  after tax incom e 

 

V ariable 

Change in  

variable 

 

2011 

 

2010 

M orbidity +5% (511) (431) 

Expenses +5% 98 (68) 

M orbidity -5% (497) 422 

Expenses -5% 98 68 

 

Investment yields (note 21). 

 

The above analyses are based on a change in one assumption w hile holding all other assumptions constant.  In 

practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated – for example, a 

change in interest rate and change in market values; and change in future mortality. 

 

A sensitivity analysis for financial risks is presented in note 21 together w ith the assets backing the associated 

liabilities of the contracts. 

 

5.1.3 Life and short-term  disability insurance contracts 

 

(a) Frequency and severity of claim s 

 

U nder life and short-term disability insurance contracts, the most significant factors are rates of morbidity and 

mortality. 

 

At present, these risks do not vary significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Society.  

H ow ever, undue concentration by amounts could have an impact on the severity of benefit payments on a 

portfolio basis. 

 

The risk exposure is geographically concentrated in British Columbia. 

 

The risk of death and disability w ill vary by industry.  U ndue concentration of risk by industry w ill therefore 

increase the risk of a change in the underlying average mortality or morbidity of employees in a given industry, 

w ith significant effects on the overall insurance risk. 

 

Insurance risk under disability contracts is also dependent on economic conditions in the industry.  H istorical 

data indicates that recession and unemployment in an industry w ill increase the number of claims for disability 

benefits as w ell as reducing the rate of recovery from disability.  The Society attempts to manage this risk 

through its underw riting, claims handling and reinsurance policy.  The amount of disability benefit cover 

provided per individual is restricted to a maximum of 75% of the individual’s monthly income.  Excess of loss 

reinsurance contracts have been purchased by the Society to limit the maximum loss on any one life to $125. 
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The follow ing table reports the year-end aggregated insured benefits for the in-force life and disability 

insurance contracts by benefit.  D isability risk is disclosed as the amount payable per annum under the terms 

of the in-force insurance contract. 

 
 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 

2011 by type of 

insurance 

 

M ortality Risk 

 

Disability Risk 

 

M ortality Risk 

 

Disability Risk 

Life 6,427,792 62.8%   5,509,821 62.5%   

O ptional Life 602,614 5.9%   442,285 5.0%   

D ependent Life 98,349 1.0%   98,349 1.1%   

AD &D  2,115,583 20.7%   1,810,627 20.5%   

O ptional AD &D  120,715 1.2%   95,444 1.1%   

Individual Products 742,173 7.2%   742,173 8.4%   

Critical Illness 122,629 1.2%   122,629 1.4%   

STD    6,890 100%   6,535 100% 

  100%  100%  100%  100% 

 

The concentration is substantially unchanged from prior year. 

 

 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 

2010 by type of 

insurance 

 

M ortality Risk 

 

Disability Risk 

 

M ortality Risk 

 

Disability Risk 

Life 6,148,603 61.5%   5,304,668 69.1%   

O ptional Life 608,964 6.1%   453,550 5.9%   

D ependent Life 103,537 1.0%   103,537 1.4%   

AD &D  2,135,651 21.4%   962,010 12.5%   

O ptional AD &D  122,164 1.2%   48,812 0.6%   

Individual Products 707,828 7.1%   707,829 9.2%   

Critical Illness 169,550 1.7%   95,253 1.3%   

STD    6,297 100%   6,047 100% 

  100%  100%    100%  100% 

 

(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estim ation of future claim  paym ents 

 

O ther than for the testing of the adequacy of the liability representing the unexpired risk at the end of the 

reporting period, there is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years because these 

contracts have short duration.   

 

(c) Process used to decide on assum ptions 

 

The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to those disclosed in 

note 4.  H ow ever, the short-term nature of the mortality and morbidity risks makes the Society’s estimate of 

the liability covering short-term insurance contracts less uncertain than in the case of long-term contracts. 

 

The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follow s: 
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� M ortality 

The rate of mortality is based on the Society’s aggregate experience, or on industry experience studies, 

adjusted w here appropriate for the Society’s ow n experience.  

 

� M orbidity 

The rate of mortality is based on the Society’s aggregate experience. 

 

� Claim s expense level and inflation 

Allow ances for claims expenses are based on the Society’s experience.  If applicable, claims expenses are 

projected into the future w ith an allow ance for inflation consistent w ith the investment yield. 

 

(d) Changes in assum ptions 

 

The Society did not materially change some of its assumptions, from prior year, for the insurance contracts 

disclosed in this note. 

 

(e) Sensitivity analysis 

 

Short-duration insurance contracts 

 

  Change in  after-tax incom e  

 

V ariable 

Change in  

variable 

 

2011 

 

2010 

M ortality +5% (196) (165) 

M orbidity +5% (109) (89) 

Expenses +5% (116) (83) 

M ortality   -5% 198 167 

M orbidity   -5% 108 88 

Expenses   -5% 18 15 

      

Investment yields (note 21)      

 

The above analyses are based on a change in an assumption w hile holding all other assumptions constant.  In 

practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated – for example, 

changes in expenses and future mortality. 

 

Short-duration life insurance contracts are not exposed to financial risks. 

 

5.1.4 Short-duration health  and dental contracts 

 

(a) Frequency and severity of claims 

 

These contracts are mainly issued to employers to insure their commitments to their employees in terms of 

employee benefit plans.  The risk is affected by the nature of the industry in w hich the employer operates, in 

addition to the factors in note 4.  The risk of claims w ill vary by industry and plan design.  
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Insurance risk under these plans is dependent on the claiming patterns of the covered employee.  

The Society underw rites these plans on premiums set for a tw elve-month period w hich permits premium 

adjustment on an annual basis.   

 

Claims risk is controlled by means of pre-authorisation of claims, benefit limits and fee schedules. The specific 

processes used w ould vary by group depending on plan arrangements. 

 
 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 

2011 by type of insurance M ortality Risk M ortality Risk 

D ental $74,109 35.9% $74,109 36.1% 

EHC 87,698 42.5% 87,065 42.4% 

Individual Products 44,445 21.6% 44,089 21.5% 

Total $206,252 100% $205,263 100% 

 

 
 Before reinsurance After reinsurance 

2010 by type of insurance M ortality Risk M ortality Risk 

D ental $71,152 36.0% $71,152 36.1% 

EHC 85,466 43.2% 85,009 43.1% 

Individual Products 41,042 20.8% 40,715 20.8% 

Total $197,660 100% $196,876 100% 

 

(b) Sources of uncertainty in the estim ation of future claim  paym ents 

 

O ther than for the testing of the adequacy of the liability representing the unexpired risk at the end of the 

reporting period, there is no need to estimate mortality rates or morbidity rates for future years because these 

contracts have short duration.  The influence of economic circumstances on the actual recovery rate for 

individual contracts is the key source of uncertainty for these estimates. 

 

Process used to decide on assum ptions 

 

The assumptions used for the insurance contracts disclosed in this note are as follow s: 

 

� M orbidity 

 

The rate of incidence and size of claims is derived from experience studies, adjusted w here appropriate for the 

Society’s ow n experience. 

 

The process to decide these assumptions for the contracts disclosed in this note is similar to those disclosed in 

note 4.  H ow ever, the short-term nature of the mortality risk underw ritten makes the Society’s estimate of the 

liability covering death benefit payments less uncertain than in the case of long-term contracts. 

 

Similar to the approach for the assumptions underlying the insurance liabilities, the choice of selected results 

for each accident year depends on an assessment of the technique that has been most appropriate to 

observed historical developments. 
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(c) Changes in assum ptions 

The Society did not materially change its assumptions, from the prior year, for the insurance contracts 

disclosed in this note. 

 

(d) Sensitivity analysis 

 

Short-duration health and dental contracts 

 

  Change in  after-tax incom e  

 

V ariable 

Change in  

variable 

 

2011 

 

2010 

M orbidity +5%  (1,106) (1,075) 

+5% (41) (40) 

-5% 1,106 1,075 

Expenses 

M orbidity 

Expenses  -5% 41 40 

 

The above analyses are based on a change in an assumption w hile holding all other assumptions constant.  In 

practice, this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated – for example, 

changes in morbidity and expenses. 

 

Short-duration insurance health and dental contracts are not exposed to financial risks. 
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6.  PIM CO  investm ents 

 
The follow ing table show s the assets and liabilities of the PIM CO  Fund w hich is w holly ow ned by the Society and 

BC Life.  Further detail on these items can be found in notes 24 through 36. 

 
 2011 2010 

  

$ 

 

$ 
PIM CO  assets:   

Investments – at fair value $147,600 $103,606 
Cash 724 1,671 
D eposit w ith counterparties 871 57 
Foreign currency - at fair value 833 1,861 
Variation margin receivable on financial derivative 
instruments 

- 38 

Accrued interest receivable 1,242 799 
Receivable for purchased options 335 - 
Receivable for investments sold 3,450 29,024 
Reverse repurchase agreements – at fair value - 6,260 
U nrealised appreciation on foreign currency contracts 1,547 768 
Sw ap agreements – at fair value 1,581 980 

Total assets $158,183 $145,064 
   

PIM CO  liabilities:   
Payable for investments purchased 7,043 - 
Payable for short sales – at fair value 2,471 - 
Sw ap interest payable 11 25 
Payable for w ritten options 34 195 
U nrealised depreciation on foreign currency contracts 387 153 
Sw ap agreements at fair value 1,020 - 
Variation margin payable on financial derivative 
instruments 

27 - 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 18 15 
D eposit from counterparties 1,945 1,401 

Total liabilities $12,956 $1,789 
   

Net PIM CO  investments $145,227 $143,275 

   

 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Investm ent incom e earned on : 
Fixed income pooled funds 3,823             1,632 
Realised /unrealised loss (5,682) (2,157)
Total investment loss $(1,859) $(525)
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7. Cash and investm ents 
 

Cash and investments included on the Balance Sheet are as follow s 
 
 

  

 2011 2010 Jan. 1, 2010 

 $ $ $ 
    
Cash and cash equivalents 34,041 26,100 39,617 

    
Fixed income investments maturing in     
Less than one year 390 222 211 
O ne to five years 2,695 2,877 9,656 
M ore than five years 2,714 2,493 40,156 
Fixed income pooled funds 2,627 2,309 106,435 

Total fixed income investments $8,426 $7,901 $156,458 

    
Real estate fund 28,485 25,521 - 
    
Equity investments    
Equities 68,587 69,927 63,079 
Equity pooled funds 33,837 29,747 24,400 
Total equity investments $102,424 $99,674 $87,479 

    
Total investments $139,335 $133,096 $243,937 
    
Total cash and cash equivalents and investm ents $173,376 $159,196 $283,554 
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Net investment income includes: 

 
2011 

$  
2010 

$ 
Investm ent incom e earned on :   
Fixed income investments and pooled 

funds 
1,010 6,127 

Cash equivalents 642 408 
Real estate fund 1,546 234 
 $3,198 $6,769 

   
Dividend incom e earned on: 

Equities and equity pooled funds  1,896  $2,105 $1,896

 
Realised /unrealised gain(loss) 
Fixed income 347 7,329
Real estate 1,594 417
Equities (6,752) 10,713
Total realised/unrealised gain (loss) $(4,811) $18,459

 
Investment expenses (1,149) (958)
Interest paid to groups (796) (455)

 $(1,945) $(1,413)

Total investment income (loss) $(1,453) $25,711

 

The effective annual interest rate of the fixed income investment portfolio at D ecember 31, 2011 w as 3.24% (2010– 

3.45%). 

Fair value hierarchy 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are: 

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active market for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 - inputs that are not based on observable market data. 
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The follow ing tables illustrate the classification of the Society's financial instruments w ithin the fair value hierarchy as 

at D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010: 

 

Financial assets at fair value as at Decem ber 31, 2011 

 
Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$  
Total 

$ 
      
Equities 68,587 - -  68,587 
Equity pooled funds - 33,837 -  33,837 
Fixed income investments - 5,799 -  5,799 
Fixed income pooled funds - 2,627 -  2,627 
Real estate fund - - 28,485  28,485 

      
 $68,587 $42,263 $28,485  $139,335 

 

Financial assets at fair value as at Decem ber 31, 2010 

 
Level 1 

$ 
Level 2 

$ 
Level 3 

$  
Total 

$ 
      
Equities 69,927 - -  69,927 
Equity pooled funds - 29,747 -  29,747 
Fixed income investments - 5,592 -  5,592 
Fixed income pooled funds - 2,309 -  2,309 
Real estate fund - - 25,521  25,521 

      
 $69,927 $37,648 $25,521  $133,096 

 
Financial assets at fair value as at January 1, 2010 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

     

Equities 63,079 - - 63,079 

Equity pooled funds - 24,400 - 24,400 

Fixed income investments - 50,023 - 50,023 

Fixed income pooled funds - 106,435 - 106,435 

 $63,079 $180,858 - $243,937 
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The Society has financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and has provided an analysis of 

movements in Level 3 instruments: 

2010 $’000 

O pening balance 0 

Total gains and losses recognised in investment income 521 

Purchases 25,000 

Closing balance $25,521 

  
2011 $’000 

O pening balance 25,521 
Total gains and losses recognised in investment income 2,964 

Closing balance $28,485 

 

There w ere no significant transfers of financial assets betw een any of the levels of fair value hierarchy classifications in 

2011 and 2010. 

The follow ing table show s the sensitivity of Level 3 measurements to reasonably possible favourable or unfavourable 

changes in the assumptions used to determine the fair value of the financial asset or liability. If market values w ere to 

change by +/- 5%, w hich management considers a reasonably possible change in assumptions for real estate 

investments, the impact is outlined below .  

  Change in after tax incom e 

 Favourable 
changes 

U nfavourable 
changes 

At D ecember 31, 2011 $1,702 $(1,762)

At D ecember 31, 2010 Not Available Not Available 
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8. Am ounts due from  reinsurers 

 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Jan. 1, 2010 
$ 

    
Amounts receivable from reinsurers 1,505 3,085 3,313 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers 59,366 53,163 50,356 

    
 $60,871 $56,248 $53,669 

 

 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Balance – Beginning of year 56,248 53,669 

Normal business changes 3,725 (696) 

   

Changes in assumptions:   

Interest rate 2,566 3,470 

O ther assumptions (1,668) (195) 

Balance – End of year $60,871 $56,248 

 

The Society has guidelines and a review  process in place to ascertain the creditw orthiness of the companies to w hich it 

cedes insurance. The Society cedes a portion of its business to registered reinsurers. No information has come to the 

Society's attention indicating w eakness or failure of any of its current reinsurers; consequently, no provision has been 

made in the accounts for doubtful collection. 
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9. Trade and other receivables 

 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Jan. 1, 2010 
$ 

    
Accounts receivable – Risk 4,131 5,018 3,725 
Accounts receivable – ASO  28,620 20,633 20,421 
Accounts receivable – O ther 1,712 1,445 554 

 $34,463 $27,096 $24,700 

    
Current 34,198 26,844 24,462 
Non-current 265 252 238 

 $34,463 $27,096 $24,700 

 

10. Prepaid  expenses 

 2011
$ 

2010 
$ 

Jan. 1, 2010 
$ 

    
Reinsurance - 125 153 

M aintenance agreements 1,136 1,216 1,179 

Commission 1,323 1,231 1,223 

Insurance 182 180 172 

D ues and subscriptions 87 124 111 

O ther 188 279 141 

 $2,916 $3,155 $2,979 

   

Current 2,916 3,141 2,979 

Non-current - 14 -

 $2,916 $3,155 $2,979 
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11. Property and equipm ent 

 Leasehold 

Im provem ents 

Furniture and 

Equipm ent 

Total 

 $ $ $ 

As at January 1, 2010    

Cost or valuation 6,724 12,071 18,795 

Accumulated amortisation (3,255) (8,725) (11,980) 

Net book amount $3,469 $3,346 $6,815 

    

Year ended Decem ber 31, 2010    

O pening net book amount 3,469 3,346 6,815 

Additions 1 1,277 1,278 

D isposals - 14 14 

Amortisation charge (353) (1,018) (1,371) 

Closing net book amount $3,117 $3,619 $6,736 

    

At Decem ber 31, 2010    

Cost or valuation 6,725 13,362 20,087 

Accumulated amortisation (3,608) (9,743) (13,351) 

Net book amount $3,117 $3,619 $6,736 

    

Year ended Decem ber 31, 2011    

O pening net book amount 3,117 3,619 6,736 

Additions 20 876 896 

D isposals - - - 

Amortisation charge (353) (1,229) (1,582) 

Closing net book amount $2,784 $3,266 $6,050 

    

At Decem ber 31, 2011    

Cost or valuation 6,745 14,238 20,983 

Accumulated amortisation (3,961) (10,972) (14,933) 

N et book am ount $2,784 $3,266 $6,050 
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12. Intangible assets 

 Internally Developed    

Com puter 

Softw are 

Individual 

Plan Adm in. 

System  

Adm in. Claim  

Enrolm ent System  

Purchased  Total 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

As at January 1, 2010      

Cost or valuation 24,614 4,919 13,257 8,792 51,582 

Accumulated amortisation (22,734) (328) - - (23,062) 

Net book value $1,880 $4,591 $13,257 $8,792 $28,520 

      

Year ended Decem ber 31, 

2010 

     

O pening net book amount 1,880 4,591 13,257 8,792 28,520 

Additions 645 943 12,057 - 13,645 

D isposals (10) - (207) - (217) 

Amortisation charge (1,165) (562) (838) (97) (2,662) 

Closing net book amount  $1,350 $4,972 $24,269 $8,695 $39,286 

      

At Decem ber 31, 2010      

Cost or valuation 25,249 5,862 25,107 8,792 65,010 

Accumulated amortisation (23,899) (890) (838) (97) (25,724) 

Net book amount  $1,350 $4,972 $24,269 $8,695 $39,286 

      

Year ended Decem ber 31, 

2011 

     

O pening net book amount 1,350 4,972 24,269 8,695 39,286 

Additions 865 736 14,283 - 15,884 

D isposals (123) - - - (123) 

Amortisation charge (720) (660) (953) (97) (2,430) 

Closing net book amount $1,372 $5,048 $37,599 $8,598 $52,617 

      

At Decem ber 31, 2011      

Cost or valuation 25,991 6,598 39,390 8,792 80,771 

Accumulated amortisation (24,619) (1,550) (1,791) (194) (28,154) 

N et book am ount $1,372 $5,048 $37,599 $8,598 $52,617 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 
54 

13. Insurance liabilities  

The expenditures on members' claims include an estimate for services performed and claims incurred but w hich have 

not been reported to or processed by the Society. This estimate is based on the results of an actuarial valuation 

performed in accordance w ith standards established by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries using data supplied by the 

Society. The actual amount of the Society's liability w ith respect to incurred but unreported and open claims cannot be 

determined until all claims have been submitted and processed. Although the Society is liable for the full amount of 

claims filed by its members, it mitigates its exposure to significant claims by entering into contracts w ith reinsurers. It is 

not possible to determine the amount by w hich actual settlements and amounts recoverable from reinsurers w ill differ 

from amounts reserved. 

These contracts w ith reinsurers include provisions for claims experience adjustments w hich are recognised by the 

Society once the amounts and timing of these adjustments are know n. 

 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Change in  reserve   
Balance - Beginning of year 105,242 101,235 
   
Changes due to business grow th 11,754 850 
   
Changes in assumptions   

Change in interest rate 3,990 4,606 
Change in other assumptions (3,896) (1,449) 

   
Balance - End of year $117,090 $105,242 

 

Role of the Appointed Actuary 

The Appointed Actuary is appointed by the Board of D irectors to carry out an annual valuation of policy liabilities. In 

performing the valuation, the Appointed Actuary makes assumptions as to future rates of interest, expenses, inflation, 

reinsurance recoveries, and other contingencies taking into account the circumstances of the Society and the policies 

in force. The Appointed Actuary is responsible for ensuring that these assumptions and the methods for the valuation 

of policy liabilities are in accordance w ith accepted actuarial practice, applicable legislation, and associated 

regulations, and is required to provide an opinion on the appropriateness of the policy liabilities at the Balance Sheet 

date to meet all policyholder obligations. 
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14. M em bers’ dues received in  advance 
 
D ues received in advance are premiums for annual policies that have not been fully earned at the balance sheet date. They 

are recognised in the period to w hich coverage is in force.   

 

At year end the split betw een travel plans and health plans w as: 

 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
January 1, 2010 

$ 

    Travel plans 2,511 1,944 1,444 
H ealth plans 5,257 4,700 4,606 

Total $7,768 $6,644 $6,050 

 

 

15. Trade and other payables 

 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

January 1, 2010 
$ 

D ue to groups 70,336 65,705 62,514 

M ember deposits 43,221 38,283 39,037 

O utstanding cheques 44,049 31,100 30,397 

Trade 10,965 8,526 8,340 

Clients 3,438 3,445 3,347 

Payroll 2,382 2,387 2,183 

Reinsurance 1,099 1,095 1,034 

O ther 343 359 8 

 $175,833 $150,900 $146,860 

    
Current 175,833 150,900 146,860 
Non-current - - - 

 $175,833 $150,900 $146,860 

 

16. Funds held  on behalf of m em bers  

As at D ecember 31, 2011, $8,091 (2010: $3,299) w as held on behalf of self-insured groups to fund future claims and 

expenses. These funds are not included in the financial statements of the Society.  Any interest earned on these funds 

is for the benefit of the self-insured group. 
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17. Com m itm ents 

The Society has commitments for operating leases relating to property, equipment and contracts for softw are 

development. Future minimum annual payments are as follow s: 

 $ 
  
2012 3,044 
2013 2,489 
2014  2,376 
2015 2,548 
2016 and beyond 11,804 

 

The Society's bank has issued letters of credit for pension obligations in the amount of $1,758 (2010: $1,780) w hich is 

secured by a charge over short-term securities. 

The Society leases land and building under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement. The lease expires in 

November 2018.  It is 15 year lease w hich includes tw o five year renew al options. The lease also covers the operating 

costs of 4250 Canada W ay, Burnaby, British Columbia.   

The lease expenditure charged to the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income during the 

year is $3,699 (2010: $3,789). 
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18. Pension plans and post-em ploym ent benefits 

The Society sponsors contributory defined benefit plans for eligible management employees and a contributory 

defined contribution plan for eligible hourly and management employees. 

In addition to its pension plans, the Society also provides certain post-employment medical and dental benefits to 

eligible employees and dependants upon meeting certain requirements. The post-employment benefits are currently 

not funded. 

Total cash payments for employee future benefits for 2011, consisting of cash contributed by the Society to its funded 

pension plan, cash payments directly to beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment benefit plans, and cash 

contributed to its defined contribution plan, w ere $3,115 (2010: $3,072).  The details are as follow s: 

Cash payments to: 

2011 

$ 

2010 

$ 

Beneficiaries for unfunded post-employment benefit plans 455 448 

RCA plan 167 165 

D efined benefit plan - 35 

D efined contribution plan 2,493 2,424 

 $3,115 $3,072 

 

The Society measures its accrued benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at 

D ecember 31 of each year. The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plans for funding purposes w as at 

D ecember 31, 2008, and the next required valuation w ill be as of D ecember 31, 2011.  The valuation is not completed 

and a roll-forw ard of the prior valuation w as used for these financial statements. 
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Information regarding the pension plans and post-employment benefits is as follow s: 

 

 

Pension plans 

 

 

RCA 

Total 

pension plan 

Post-

em ploym ent 

benefits 

 

 

Total 

 

2011 

$ 

2011 

$ 

2011 

$ 

2011 

$ 

2011 

$ 

      
Change in  benefit obligation      
Benefit obligation - Beginning of year 3,725 3,105 6,830 22,987 29,817 
Actuarial loss 373 475 848 878 1,726 
Interest cost 143  143 1,154 1,297 
Current service cost 48 150 198 805 1,003 
Benefits paid (279) (167) (446) (455) (901) 

Benefit obligation - End of year $4,010 $3,563 $7,573 $25,369 $32,942 

      
Current year obligation 337 307 644 1,260 1,904 
Non-current 3,673 3256 6,929 24,109 31,038 

      
Change in  p lan assets      
Fair value of plan assets - Beginning of year 3,846 - 3,846 - 3,846 
Actual return (4) - (4) - (4) 
Employer contributions - - - - - 
Benefits paid (279) - (279) - (279) 

Fair value of plan assets - End of year $3,563 - $3,563 - $3,563 

      
N et deficit $(447) $(3,563) $(4,010) $(25,369) $(29,379) 

      
Current service cost 48 150 198 805 1,003 
Interest cost 143 - 143 1,154 1,297 
Expected return on plan assets (140) - (140) - (140) 
Actuarial loss  373 475 848 878 1,726 

N et expense $424 $625 $1,049 $2,837 $3,886 
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Pension plans 

 

 

RCA 

Total 

pension plan 

Post-

em ploym ent 

benefits 

 

 

Total 

 

2010 

$ 

2010 

$ 

2010 

$ 

2010 

$ 

2010 

$ 

      
Change in  benefit obligation      
Benefit obligation - Beginning of year 2,732 3,146 5,878 20,757 26,635 
Actuarial loss 988  988 767 1,755 
Interest cost 221  221 1,170 1,391 
Current service cost 43 124 167 741 908 
Benefits paid (259) (165) (424) (448) (872) 

Benefit obligation - End of year $3,725 $3,105 $6,830 $22,987 $29,817 

      
Current year obligation 302 289 591 1,189 1,780 
Non-current 3,423 2,816 6,239 21,798 28,037 

      
Change in  p lan assets      
Fair value of plan assets - Beginning of year 3,693 - 3,693 - 3,693 
Actual return 377 - 377 - 377 
Employer contributions 200 - 200 - 200 
Benefits paid (424) - (424) - (424) 

Fair value of plan assets - End of year $3,846 - $3,846 - $3,846 

      
N et (deficit) /surplus $121 $(3,105) $(2,984) $(22,987) $(25,971) 

      
Current service cost 43 124 167 741 908 
Interest cost 221 - 221 1,170 1,391 
Expected return on plan assets (223) - (223) - (223) 
Actuarial loss  988 - 988 767 1,755 

N et expense $1,029 $124 $1,153 $2,678 $3,831 
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The Society’s net benefit plan expense (recovery) for the pension plans and post-employment benefits is 

as follow s: 

 Pension plans Post-

em ploym ent 

benefits 

Pension plans Post-

em ploym ent 

benefits 

     

 2011 

$ 

2011 

$ 

2010 

$ 

2010 

$ 

     
Current service cost 198 805 167 741 
Interest cost 143 1,155 221 1,170 
Expected return on plan assets (140) - (223) - 
Actuarial loss 848 878 988 767 

Net expense $1,049 $2,838 $1,153 $2,678 

 

Pension plan assets consist of: 

 Percentage of plan assets Percentage of plan assets 

   

 
2011 

% 
2010 

% 
   

Balanced funds 100 100 
 

 

W eighted average assumptions as at D ecember 31 are as follow s: 

 

Pension plans Post-

em ploym ent 

benefits 

Pension plans Post-

em ploym ent 

benefits 

     

 

2011 

% 

2011 

% 

2010 

% 

2010 

% 

     
D iscount rate 4.70 4.70  5.50  5.50 
Expected long-term rate of 
return on plan assets 4.00 n/a  5.00  n/a 

Rate of compensation increase 1.50 n/a  1.50  n/a 
Rate of medical cost trend n/a 4.00  n/a  4.50 

 

The overall expected rate of return on the assets is determined based on market expectations applicable to 

the period over w hich the obligation  is settled. 
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A one percentage point change in the assumed medical cost trend w ould have the follow ing effect: 

Decem ber 31, 2011 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $222 $(163) 
Accrued benefit obligation $4,907 $(3,814) 
   

Decem ber 31, 2010 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $202 $(149) 
Accrued benefit obligation $4,400 $(3,435) 
 

A one percentage point change in the assumed discount rate on post-employment benefits w ould have the 

follow ing effect: 

Decem ber 31, 2011 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $179 $(246) 
Accrued benefit obligation $4,059 $(5,257) 
   

Decem ber 31, 2010 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $162 $(220) 
Accrued benefit obligation $3,599 $(4,641) 
 

A one percentage point change in the assumed discount rate on pension plans w ould have the follow ing 

effect: 

Decem ber 31, 2011 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $21 $(26) 
Accrued benefit obligation $694 $(823) 

Decem ber 31, 2010 Increase Decrease 

Benefit cost $18 $(23) 
Accrued benefit obligation $614 $(720) 
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19. G eneral and Adm inistrative costs 

 2011 

$ 

 

2010 

$ 

 

Salaries  38,663 38,685 

Benefits (note 18) 12,525 11,196 

Consulting fees and professional services  4,011 5,209 

Amortisation of property and equipment 1,582 1,371 

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,430 2,662 

Strategic project costs 5,057 4,022 

O ccupancy costs 3,699 3,789 

Information technology 2,753 2,380 

O ther 4,055 2,941 

Postage, delivery and storage 1,915 2,024 

Advertising and promotion 2,096 2,017 

Net G ST/H ST 2,472 1,639 

 
$81,258 $77,935 
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20. Related party transactions 

The Society considers key management personnel to be the Board of D irectors, Executive and Leadership 

group. 

 

Key M anagem ent Com pensation 2011 

$ 

2010 

$ 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 4,230 3,884 

Post-employment benefits 353 276 

O ther long-term benefits 295 295 

 

21. Financial instrum ent risk m anagem ent 

For financial instrum ent risk disclosures relating to the PIM CO  Fund, refer to N otes 24 through 36.  

The Society’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate risk 

tolerance limits, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits through the maintenance of a strong 

control environment and use of information systems. Financial instrument risk management is carried 

out by an Investment Committee w hich reports to the Board of D irectors. The Board sets w ritten policies 

for risk tolerance and overall risk management and management report to the Board on compliance w ith 

the risk management policies of the Society. A Statement of Investment Policies and Procedures (“SIPP”) 

and Investment M anager M andates (“IM M ”) are used to set overall risk tolerance. In addition, the Society 

maintains an internal audit function w ith responsibility for review  of the overall control environment. 

The Society is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, 

reinsurance assets and insurance claims reserves. The most important components of these specific 

financial instrument risks are related to credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk, as described below . The 

key financial risk is that in the long-term the Society’s investment portfolio is not sufficient to fund its 

insurance obligations. 

 

Credit risk 

 

The Society is exposed to credit risk principally through its cash and cash equivalents, investments, trade 

and other receivables and amounts due from reinsurers. The Society has policies to limit and monitor its 

exposure to individual issuers and classes of issuers of investment securities w hich do not carry the 

guarantee of a national or Canadian provincial government. The Society invests short-term surplus cash 

in guaranteed deposits w ith British Columbia credit unions and federally incorporated Canadian banks. 

The Society monitors its exposure in respect of premiums and other receivables to ensure that credit is 

provided on normal commercial trade terms and to minimise the risk of any large concentration of credit 

risk. Trade and other receivables have a short term to maturity and are not considered to represent a 

significant credit risk. The Society’s credit exposure to any one policyholder is monitored by 

management. The Society also has policies w hich manage its exposure to individual reinsurers and 

regularly review s the creditw orthiness of reinsurers w ith w hom it transacts business. As at D ecember 31, 

2011, the Society’s reinsurers had a rating of A- (2010 A-) or above based on AM  Best ratings. The Society 

has no off-balance sheet exposures to credit risk. The Society’s maximum exposure to credit risk is 

summarised below : 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 64 

 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 

   
Cash and cash equivalents 34,041 26,100 
Fixed income investments 5,799 5,592 
Trade and other receivables 34,463 27,096 
Amounts due from reinsurers 60,871 56,248 

   
 $135,174 $115,036 

 

There is a risk of the credit profile of specific investments changing over time and not meeting minimum 

quality requirements or defaulting and requiring action to mitigate losses. The Society has developed 

policies and procedures to mitigate the risk associated w ith credit ratings. Through the SIPP and IM M , the 

Society addresses each of the principles and requirements related to credit rating and credit risk 

management. The Society has a significant inherent exposure to changes in credit risk due to its reliance 

on fixed income investments. H ow ever, management believes the exposure to material credit risk is 

unlikely through maintenance of a low  credit risk fixed investment profile, despite current economic and 

market uncertainties. 

The carrying value of the Society’s fixed income investments as at D ecember 31 is as follow s: 

 2011 
$ 

 
% 

2010 
$ 

 
% 

     
Canadian federal government 1,560 26.9 1,310 23.4
Canadian provincial and municipal 

government 
1,497 25.8 1,452 26.0

O ther foreign governments 66 1.1 142 2.5
Corporate bonds 2,676 46.2 2,688 48.1

 $5,799 100% $5,592 100%

 

There w ere no fixed income investments held as at year-end w hich have past due interest or had a 

modification of terms during the year. 
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The assets above are analysed in the table below  using Standard &  Poors (“S&P”) rating (or equivalent 

w hen not available from S&P). The concentration of credit risk is substantially unchanged compared to 

the prior year. 

Decem ber 31, 
2011 

AAA AA A BBB Below  
BBB 

N ot rated Total 

Cash and cash 
equivalents      34,041 34,041 

Fixed income 3,493 878 1,113   315 5,799 

Premium and 
other receivables      34,463 34,463 

Amounts due 
from reinsurers   60,871    60,871 
        
Decem ber 31, 
2010 

AAA AA A BBB Below  
BBB 

N ot rated Total 

Cash and cash 
equivalents      26,100 26,100 

Fixed income 3,546 603 858 322  263 5,592 

Premium and 
other receivables      27,096 27,096 

Amounts due 
from reinsurers   56,248    56,248 
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M arket risk 

M arket risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow s of a financial instrument w ill fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. 

Interest rate risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flow s of a financial instrument w ill fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates;  

Currency risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flow s of a financial instrument w ill fluctuate because of 

changes in foreign exchange rates; 

O ther price risk 

The risk that the fair value or future cash flow s of a financial instrument w ill fluctuate because of 

changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), w hether 

those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or 

factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 

The Society manages these risks by a variety of risk management techniques w hich include 

diversification of investments and may include the periodic use of forw ard foreign exchange derivative 

contracts to mitigate exposure to adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates.  

The Society maintains policies and procedures detailing the acceptable levels of market risk. The 

Society’s key financial risk management tool is its investment policy w hich is defined in a SIPP and IM M .  

The target level for all fixed income investments is 55% (2010: 55%) of the total portfolio.  No one issuer 

greater than 8 %( 2010: 8%) is allow ed in the bond portfolio.  No more than 20% (2010: 20%) of bonds 

can be in emerging market securities.   

The target level for investments in Canadian equity markets is 20% (2010: 20%) of the total portfolio.  No 

single equity can be greater than 10% (2010: 10%) of a single corporation.  The investments must be 

invested in at least six sectors of the appropriate index. 

The target level for investments in G lobal equity markets is 15% (2010: 15%) of the total portfolio.  The 

investments must be invested in at least seven sectors of the appropriate index. 

The target level for the real estate fund is 10% (2010: 10%) of the total portfolio.  The real estate fund is 

restricted to Canadian properties and diversified over office, industrial and retail buildings.  Leverage is 

restricted to 50% (2010: 50%) of the fair market value of the fund. 
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Compliance w ith the policies is monitored and exposures and breaches are reported to the Board. The 

policies are review ed annually for relevance and changes to the risk environment. The life insurance 

component of the Society’s investments exposure to market risks is generally offset by the 

corresponding exposure of its policy obligations. As the policy liabilities for these obligations are 

calculated based on market values, increases and decreases in these risk variables affect both investment 

income and the change in the carrying value of policy liabilities. The activity of investments and holdings 

are presented to the Investment Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis to ensure that the policies 

governing the portfolio are being adhered to. The D ynamic Capital Adequacy Test (“D CAT”), w hich 

involves scenario testing, is a tool that is periodically used by management to determine potential risks 

and impacts to the Society. 

The impact on net income and equity of a reasonable possible change in each of these variables is 

described below : 

(a) Interest rate 

The immediate impact on income from fixed income investments of a 1% increase or decrease in 

interest rates w ould not be significant due to the portfolio primarily consisting of fixed rate 

investments. The immediate impact on the fair value of fixed income investments of a 1% change in 

interest rates w ould be approximately $348 (2010: $336). 

(b) Foreign currency 

The Society has no foreign currency exposure in its financial liabilities. The Society is exposed to 

fluctuations in U S foreign currency movements through its investment in a U S dollar denominated 

pooled investment fund. The Society’s principal foreign currency exposure is to changes in the 

value of the U S dollar on the fair value of U S dollar denominated investments. The Society's 

investment managers manage foreign exchange risk as an integral component of overall price risk. 

The sensitivity of equity securities and equity pooled funds to overall changes in price risk is 

disclosed below . 

The Society may periodically use foreign currency derivative instruments to help manage its foreign 

currency risks. The Society does not engage in speculative investment in derivatives. The exposure 

is managed by delegated investment managers, w ho are permitted, w ithin strict limits, to enter into 

forw ard foreign currency contracts to offset changes in fair values of foreign denominated 

investments. There w ere no forw ard foreign currency contracts held at D ecember 31, 2011 and 

2010.  The PIM CO  Fund held foreign currency contracts and sensitivity is disclosed in notes 24 

through 36 of these financial statements. 

(c) O ther price risk 

The immediate impact on equities and investments in pooled funds of a 1% increase or decrease in 

the relevant indices w ould be approximately $1,335 (2010: $1,275) w ith all other variables held 

constant and assuming the Society's equity instruments moved according to historical correlation 

w ith relevant indices. This includes the real estate fund, fixed income pooled funds and equities. 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 
 

 68 

The Society’s equity investments are diversified through investments in direct equities and pooled funds 

w ith a strategy w hich matches the Society’s risk tolerance levels. The carrying value of equities and 

pooled funds by geographic sector as at D ecember 31 is as follow s: 

 
2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 

   
Equity securities   
Canada 42,978 45,558 
U nited States 25,609 24,369 
   
 $68,587 $69,927 

   
Pooled funds   
Fixed Income 2,627 2,308 
Canada 10,007 5,177 
U nited States 1,657 986 
International 22,173 23,584 
 $36,464 $32,055 
   
Real estate fund $28,485 $25,521 

   
 $133,536 $127,503 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity w ill encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated w ith 

financial liabilities. Liquidity management involves maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities 

or an adequate amount of funding to meet financial obligations as they come due. If the Society fails to 

anticipate the medium and long-term cash demands of its products and operations and/or the potential 

for variances arising from economic and regulatory changes, this could result in a risk of the Society 

having insufficient cash to meet its contractual obligations to policyholders, brokers, reinsurers, claimants 

or creditors. The Society has implemented policies and procedures to mitigate risks associated w ith 

liquidity management. These policies and procedures contribute to prudent and sound management of 

all aspects of liquidity. 

M anagement monitors rolling forecasts of the Society’s cash flow s and the maturity dates of liquid assets 

on the basis of expected cash flow s. The Society’s liabilities principally comprise short-term accounts 

payable and accrued liabilities and claims reserves. As the exact timing of the maturity of the Society’s 

claims reserves is unknow n and is indeterminable, the Society manages the maturity of claims by the use 

of an overall historical liability settlement pattern as a basis to define diversification and duration 

characteristics of future liabilities. 

The products offered by the Society present low  risk as the main product lines are yearly renew able 

products, usually w ith rate guarantees of 12 months on renew al. The Society offers standard product 

options w hich do not involve significant cash disbursements w hile the policies are in force. Reinsurance 

and catastrophe reinsurance policies are in place to manage risk to the Society and protect its solvency in 

the case of an adverse event. 
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Decem ber 31, 2011 
Total 

$ 
W ithin 
 1 year 1-5 years 

 
6-10 years 

O ver 
11 years 

      
Cash and cash equivalents 34,041 34,041 - - - 
Fixed term investments and fixed 

income pooled funds 8,426 3,017 2,695 2,714 - 
Real estate funds 28,485 28,485 - - - 
Equities and Equity pool funds 102,434 102,434 - - - 
Trade and other receivables 34,463 34,463 - - - 
Amounts due from Reinsurer 60,871 17,633 19,394 10,592 13,252 

 $268,721 $220,073 $22,089 $13,307 $13,252 

      
Insurance liabilities 117,090 49,652 30,249 16,520 20,669 
M embers’ dues received in advance 7,768 7,768 - - - 
O ther payables 175,833 175,833 - - - 

 $300,691 $233,253 $30,249 $16,520 $20,669 

 

The investment in the PIM CO  Fund is not reflected in these liquidity disclosures and w ould be factored in 

if a shortfall in cash w ere to occur by w ithdraw al of funds. The above table does not include the 

employee benefit obligation of $29,379. 

 

Decem ber 31, 2010 
Total 

$ 
W ithin 
 1 year 1-5 years 

 
6-10 years 

O ver 
11 years 

      
Cash and cash equivalents 26,100 26,100 - - - 
Fixed term investments and fixed 

income pooled funds 7,901 2,530 2,877 2,494 - 
Real estate funds 25,521 25,521 - - - 
Equities and Equity pool funds 99,674 99,674 - - - 
Trade and other receivables 27,096 27,096 - - - 
Amounts due from reinsurers 56,248 16,843 17,757 9,902 11,746 

 $242,540 $197,764 $20,634 $12,396 $11,746 

      
Insurance liabilities 105,242 46,576 26,436 14,743 17,487 
M ember’s dues received in advance 6,644 6,644 - - - 
O ther payables 150,900 150,900 - - - 
 $262,786 $204,120 $26,436 $14,743 $17,487 

 

The investment in the PIM CO  Fund is not reflected in these liquidity disclosures and w ould be factored in 

if a shortfall in cash w ere to occur by w ithdraw al of funds. The above table does not include the 

employee benefit obligation of $25,971. 
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22. Contingencies 

D uring the normal course of operations, legal proceedings may arise from time to time against the 

Society from insurance claimants. The Society has policies and procedures in place concerning its claims 

adjudication procedures. M anagement has review ed outstanding legal matters pending as at D ecember 

31, 2011 and 2010 and considers the risk of significant loss to be remote. As of the date of these financial 

statements, the outcome of these proceedings cannot be reasonably estimated; therefore, no amounts 

have been recorded in the financial statements. 

23. Capital d isclosure 

The Society's capital objective is to provide for maintenance of capital to provide an available and 

effective resource to support business activities. Additional objectives include maintaining safety and 

stability by ensuring capital is adequate to reduce risk exposure in a variety of situations, that sufficient 

capital exists for future needs and strategic initiatives and to satisfy expectations of members. 

The Society is externally regulated by the FICO M .  The Society reports quarterly to the regulatory agency. 

The regulatory agency imposes minimum continuing capital and surplus requirements (“M CCSR”). The 

guidelines provide minimum and supervisory target capital levels. FICO M  requires a 150% minimum 

capital requirement. The Society maintains a Capital Risk M anagement Policy to ensure objectives are 

met and capital is managed w ithin distinct stages relating to specific levels of the M CCSR. D uring 2011 

and as at D ecember 31, 2011, the Society fully met the regulatory capital requirements.  D uring 2010 and 

as at D ecember 31, 2010, the Society fully met the regulatory capital requirements. 

The Society manages its capital by maintaining an investment portfolio that is 90% to 100% of the total 

equity of the Society. The reference to total equity includes other comprehensive income. The 

investments are governed by the SIPP. The SIPP requires high quality investments and the investment 

portfolio is presented to the Investment Committee of the Board every six months by the Society’s fund 

managers. Any substandard investments are sold to maintain the quality of the fund. The holdings may 

include pooled funds, bonds and common equities. There are concentration limits imposed as w ell to the 

portfolio, by industry and by investment instrument. 

The M CCSR ratio over the last 10 years has been w ithin a target range of 200%. The ratio at the end of 

2011 w as 261% (2010: 281%). 

 



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
D ecember 31, 2011 

(in thousands of dollars) 

The notes below  relate to the Investment in the PIM CO  Canada Canadian Tactical Bond Fund 
 

 
71 

24. Description of the Fund 

The Society, together w ith BC Life, holds 100% of the units of the PIM CO  Canada Canadian Tactical Bond Fund (the “Fund”). 

The Fund w as established as an open-ended unit fund under the law s of the Province of O ntario and governed by the terms 

of a Fund Agreement. 

 

 Date Established Com m encem ent of 

O perations 

PIM CO  Canada Canadian  

Tactical Bond Fund 
D ecember 31, 2004 O ctober 29, 2010 

 

PIM CO  Canada Corp. (“PIM CO  Canada”) is the manager of the Fund (the Investment M anager), Pacific Investment 

M anagement Company LLC (“PIM CO ”) is the sub-adviser and State Street Fund Company Canada is the Trustee and 

custodian of the Fund (the “Trustee”). 

 

25. Significant Accounting Policies 

The follow ing is a summary of significant accounting policies consistently follow ed by the Fund in the preparation of their 

financial statements in conformity w ith International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The preparation of financial 

statements in accordance w ith IFRS may require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 

and the reported amounts of increases and decreases in net assets from operations during the reporting period. Actual 

results could differ from those estimates. 

 

(a) D eterm ination of N et Assets Value and N et Asset 

The net asset value (“Net Asset Value”) of the Fund is determined as of the close of regular trading (normally 4:00 p.m., 

Eastern time) (the “TSX Close”) on each day that the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) is open. The Investment Fund M anager 

may temporarily suspend the determination of Net Asset Value of the Fund and in connection therew ith, the issue, 

repurchase and sw itches of units in or from the Fund under certain circumstances, as defined in the current O ffering 

M emorandum of the Fund. 

 

For the purpose of calculating the net assets (“Net Assets”) for financial statement reporting, IFRS requires the fair value of 

investments traded in active markets to be measured using the closing bid price for long positions and closing ask price for 

short positions. The Fund use the close or last trade price as fair value of investments traded on an exchange to determine 

the daily Net Asset Value for purchases and redemptions by unitholders. The difference betw een the valuation of 

investments positions as prescribed by IFRS and the methodology indicated in the Fund’s O ffering M emorandum is not 

materially different. 

 

(b) Securities Transactions, Investm ent Incom e and Transaction Costs 

Securities transactions are recorded as of the trade date for financial reporting purposes. Securities purchased or sold on a 

w hen-issued or delayed-delivery basis may be settled a month or more after the trade date. Realised and unrealised gains 

and losses are recorded on an average cost basis. Interest income, adjusted for the accretion of discounts and amortisation 

of premiums, is recorded on the accrual basis from settlement date. Estimated tax liabilities on certain foreign securities are 

recorded on an accrual basis and are reflected as components of interest income or a net change in unrealised appreciation 

(depreciation) on investments on the Statement of O perations of the Fund, as appropriate. Tax liabilities realised as a result 

of such security sales are reflected as a component of net realised gain/loss on investments on the Statement of O perations 
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of the Fund. Paydow n gains and losses on mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities are recorded as components 

of realised gain (loss) on the Statements of O perations.  

 

Transaction costs, such as brokerage commissions incurred in the purchase and sale of securities by the Fund, are 

recognised as expenses in the Statement of O perations of the Fund. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of an investment, w hich include fees and commissions paid to agents, 

advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. 

 

(c) Cash and Foreign Currency  

The functional and reporting currency for the Fund is the Canadian dollar. The fair values of foreign securities, currency 

holdings and other assets and liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars based on the current exchange rates each 

business day. Fluctuations in the value of currency holdings and other assets and liabilities resulting from changes in 

exchange rates are recorded as unrealised foreign currency gains or losses. Realised gains or losses and unrealised 

appreciation or depreciation on investment securities and income and expenses are translated on the respective dates of 

such transactions. The effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on investments in securities are not segregated 

on the Statement of O perations of the Fund from the effects of changes in fair values of those securities, but are included 

w ith the net realised and unrealised appreciation and depreciation on investment securities. 

 

(d) U nrealised Appreciation and Depreciation of Investm ents   

The unrealised appreciation and depreciation of investments represents the aggregate of the difference betw een their 

average cost and fair value at the period end date.  

 

(e) Increase or Decrease in  N et Assets from  O perations per U nit  

Increase or decrease in net assets from operations per unit in the Statement of O perations of the Fund represents the net 

increase or decrease in net assets from operations for the period divided by the w eighted average units outstanding during 

the period. 

 

(f) Distributions to U nitholders   

The taxable net investment income is allocated and distributed to unitholders on a quarterly basis. The net realised capital 

gains are distributed to unitholders annually. The Fund may also make other distributions at such time or times as the 

Investment M anager determines.  

 

The distributions per unit, based on the number of units outstanding on the record dates for the distributions, for the Fund 

for the periods ended D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010 are as follow s:  

 

Distributions to U nitholders 2011 2010 

From net investment income $ 2.59 $ 0.42 

From capital gains $ 0.00 $ 0.72 

 

No provisions for income taxes are made in the financial statements as the net income and net capital gains are distributed 

to the unitholders. Subject to applicable securities legislation, all distributions made by the Fund w ill be reinvested in 

additional units of the Fund or fractions of units of the Fund at the Net Asset Value per unit unless the U nitholder elects to 

receive distributions in cash. 

 

26. Investm ent V aluation and Fair V alue M easurem ents 

For purposes of calculating the Net Assets, portfolio securities and other assets for w hich market quotes are readily available 

are valued at fair value. Fair value is generally determined on the basis of the closing bid price for securities purchased long 
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and the closing ask price for securities sold short, or if no sales are reported, based on bid quotes obtained from a quotation 

reporting system, established market makers, or pricing services. 

 

Investments initially valued in currencies other than the Canadian dollar are converted to the Canadian dollar using 

exchange rates obtained from pricing service providers. As a result, the Net Assets of the Fund’s shares may be affected by 

changes in the value of currencies in relation to the Canadian dollar. The value of securities traded in markets outside 

Canada or denominated in currencies other than the Canadian dollar may be affected significantly on a day that the TSX is 

closed and the Net Assets may change on days w hen an investor is not able to purchase, redeem or exchange shares. 

 

Fair value is the price that the Fund w ould receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

betw een market participants at the measurement date. IFRS establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritises inputs to 

valuation methods and requires disclosure of the fair value hierarchy, separately for each major category of assets and 

liabilities, that segregates fair value measurements into levels (Level 1, 2, and 3). The inputs or methodology used for 

valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated w ith investing in those securities. Levels 1, 2, and 3 

of the fair value hierarchy are defined as follow s: 

 

• Level 1—Inputs using quoted prices in active markets or exchanges for identical assets and liabilities. 

 

• Level 2—Significant other observable inputs, w hich may include, but are not limited to, quoted prices for similar assets or 

liabilities in markets that are active, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, 

inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities (such as interest rates, yield curves, 

volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates) or other market corroborated inputs. 

 

• Level 3—Significant unobservable inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances, to the extent 

observable inputs are not available, w hich may include assumptions made by the Investment M anager or persons acting at 

their direction that are used in determining the fair value of investments. 

 

Level 1 and Level 2 trading assets and trading liabilities, at fair value  

The valuation techniques and significant inputs used in determining the fair values of financial instruments classified as 

Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are as follow s: 

 

Fixed income securities including corporate, convertible and municipal bonds and notes, U .S. government agencies, U .S. 

treasury obligations, sovereign issues, bank loans, convertible preferred securities and non-U .S. bonds are normally valued 

by pricing service providers that use broker dealer quotations, reported trades or valuation estimates from their internal 

pricing models. The service providers’ internal models use inputs that are observable such as issuer details, interest rates, 

yield curves, prepayment speeds, credit risks/spreads, default rates and quoted prices for similar assets. Securities that use 

similar valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Fixed income securities purchased on a delayed-delivery basis are marked to market daily until settlement at the forw ard 

settlement date are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

M ortgage-related and asset-backed securities are usually issued as separate tranches, or classes, of securities w ithin each 

deal. These securities are also normally valued by pricing service providers that use broker dealer quotations or valuation 

estimates from their internal pricing models. The pricing models for these securities usually consider tranche-level 

attributes, current market data, estimated cash flow s and market-based yield spreads for each tranche, and incorporate deal 

collateral performance, as available. M ortgage-related and asset-backed securities that use similar valuation techniques and 

inputs as described above are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
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Common stocks, exchange-traded funds and financial derivative instruments, such as futures contracts or options contracts 

that are traded on a national securities exchange, are stated at the closing bid or ask prices price on the day of valuation. To 

the extent these securities are actively traded and valuation adjustments are not applied, they are categorised as Level 1 of 

the fair value hierarchy. Valuation adjustments may be applied to certain securities that are solely traded on a foreign 

exchange to account for the market movement betw een the close of the foreign market and the close of the TSX. These 

securities are valued using pricing service providers that consider the correlation of the trading patterns of the foreign 

security to the intraday trading in the local markets for investments. Securities using these valuation adjustments are 

categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Preferred securities and other equities traded on inactive markets or 

valued by reference to similar instruments are also categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  

 

Equity-Linked Securities are valued by referencing the last reported sale or settlement price of the linked referenced equity 

on the day of valuation. Foreign exchange adjustments are applied to the last reported price to convert the linked equity’s 

trading currency to the contracts settling currency.  

 

Investments in registered open-end investment management companies w ill be valued based upon the Net Asset Value of 

such investments and are categorised as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. Investments in unregistered open-end 

management investment companies w ill be calculated based upon the Net Asset Value of such investments and are 

considered Level 1 provided that the Net Asset Value is observable, calculated daily and is the value at w hich both 

purchases and sales w ill be conducted. Investments in privately held investment funds w ill be valued based upon the Net 

Asset Value of such investments and are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Investments in privately held 

investment funds w here the Net Asset Value is unobservable w ill be calculated based upon the Net Asset Value of such 

investments and are categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Short-term investments having a maturity of 60 days or less are generally valued at their latest bid quotation received from 

recognised investment dealers. If no bid price is available, they are valued at their amortised cost w hich approximates fair 

value. These investments are categorised as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

O ver-the-counter financial derivative instruments, such as foreign currency contracts, options contracts, or sw ap 

agreements, derive their value from underlying asset prices, indices, reference rates, and other inputs or a combination of 

these factors. These contracts are normally valued on the basis of broker dealer quotations or by pricing service providers. 

D epending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the value of financial derivatives can be estimated by a pricing 

service provider using a series of techniques, including simulation pricing models. The pricing models use inputs that are 

observed from actively quoted markets such as issuer details, indices, spreads, interest rates, curves, dividends and 

exchange rates. Financial derivatives that use similar valuation techniques and inputs as described above are categorised as 

Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

 

Centrally cleared sw aps listed or traded on a multilateral or trade facility platform, such as a registered exchange are valued 

by the respective exchange. For centrally cleared credit default sw aps the clearing facility requires its members to provide 

actionable levels across complete term structures. These levels along w ith external third party prices are used to produce 

daily settlement prices. Centrally cleared interest rate sw aps are valued using a pricing model that references the underlying 

rates including the overnight index sw ap rate and libor forw ard rate. These securities are categorised as Level 2 of the fair 

value hierarchy. 

 

Level 3 trading assets and trading liabilities, at fair value  

The valuation techniques and significant inputs used in determining the fair values of financial instruments classified as 

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are as follow s: 
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Securities and other assets for w hich market quotes are not readily available are valued at fair value as determined in good 

faith by the Investment M anager or persons acting at their direction and are categorised as Level 3 of the fair value 

hierarchy. 

 

M arket quotes are considered not readily available in circumstances w here there is an absence of current or reliable market-

based data (e.g., trade information or broker quotes), including w here events occur after the close of the relevant market, 

but prior to the TSX Close, that materially affect the values of the Fund’s securities or assets. In addition, market quotes are 

considered not readily available w hen, due to extraordinary circumstances, the exchanges or markets on w hich the 

securities trade, do not open for trading for the entire day and no other market prices are available. The Investment 

M anager has delegated to the investment adviser, PIM CO , the responsibility for monitoring significant events that may 

materially affect the values of the Fund’s securities or assets and for determining w hether the value of the applicable 

securities or assets should be re-evaluated in light of such significant events. 

 

The Investment M anager has adopted methods for valuing securities and other assets in circumstances w here market 

quotes are not readily available, and has delegated the responsibility for applying the valuation methods to PIM CO . For 

instances in w hich daily market quotes are not readily available, investments may be valued, pursuant to guidelines 

established by the Investment M anager, w ith reference to other securities or indices. In the event that the security or asset 

cannot be valued pursuant to one of the valuation methods established by the Investment M anager, the value of the 

security or asset w ill be determined in good faith by the Valuation Committee of PIM CO  or persons acting at their direction. 

W hen the Fund use fair valuation methods applied by PIM CO  that use significant unobservable inputs to determine its Net 

Assets, securities w ill be priced by another method that the Investment M anager or persons acting at their direction believe 

accurately reflects fair value and are categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. These methods may require subjective 

determinations about the value of the security. W hile the Fund’s policy is intended to result in a calculation of the Fund’s 

Net Assets that fairly reflects security values as of the time of pricing, the Fund cannot guarantee that values determined by 

the Investment M anager or persons acting at their direction w ould accurately reflect the price that the Fund could obtain 

for a security if they w ere to dispose of that security as of the time of pricing (for instance, in a forced or distressed sale). The 

prices used by the Fund may differ from the value that w ould be realised if the securities w ere sold. 

 

For fair valuations using significant unobservable inputs, IFRS requires a reconciliation of the beginning to ending balances 

for reported fair values that presents changes attributable to total realised and unrealised gains or losses, purchases and 

sales, and transfers in or out of the Level 3 category during the period. The end of period timing recognition is used for the 

significant transfers betw een Levels of the Fund’s assets and liabilities. All of the Fund’s investments w ere classified as Level 

2 as at D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010. 
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27. Securities and O ther Investm ents 

(a) Delayed-Delivery Transactions 

The Fund may purchase or sell securities on a delayed-delivery basis. These transactions involve a commitment by the Fund 

to purchase or sell securities for a predetermined price or yield, w ith payment and delivery taking place beyond the 

customary settlement period. W hen delayed-delivery purchases are outstanding, the Fund w ill designate liquid assets in an 

amount sufficient to meet the purchase price. W hen purchasing a security on a delayed-delivery basis, the Fund assumes 

the rights and risks of ow nership of the security, including the risk of price and yield fluctuations, and takes such 

fluctuations into account w hen determining its Net Assets. The Fund may dispose of or renegotiate a delayed-delivery 

transaction after it is entered into, and may sell delayed-delivery securities before they are delivered, w hich may result in a 

capital gain or loss. W hen the Fund has sold a security on a delayed-delivery basis, the Fund does not participate in future 

gains and losses w ith respect to the security. 

 

(b) Inflation-Indexed Bonds 

The Fund may invest in inflation-indexed bonds. Inflation-indexed bonds are fixed-income securities w hose principal value 

is periodically adjusted to the rate of inflation. The interest rate on these bonds is generally fixed at issuance at a rate low er 

than typical bonds. O ver the life of an inflation-indexed bond, how ever, interest w ill be paid based on a principal value, 

w hich is adjusted for inflation. Any increase or decrease in the principal amount of an inflation-indexed bond w ill be 

included as interest income on the Statement of O perations of the Fund, even though investors do not receive their 

principal until maturity. 

 

(c) Loan Participations and Assignm ents 

The Fund may invest in direct debt instruments w hich are interests in amounts ow ed to lenders or lending syndicates by 

corporate, governmental, or other borrow ers. The Fund’s investments in loans may be in the form of participations in loans 

or assignments of all or a portion of loans from third parties. A loan is often administered by a bank or other financial 

institution (the “lender”) that acts as agent for all holders. The agent administers the terms of the loan, as specified in the 

loan agreement. The Fund may invest in multiple series or tranches of a loan, w hich may have varying terms and carry 

different associated risks. The Fund generally has no right to enforce compliance w ith the terms of the loan agreement w ith 

the borrow er. As a result, the Fund may be subject to the credit risk of both the borrow er and the lender that is selling the 

loan agreement. W hen the Fund purchases assignments from lenders it acquires direct rights against the borrow er of the 

loan. The Fund may also enter into unfunded loan commitments, w hich are contractual obligations for future funding. 

U nfunded loan commitments may include revolving credit facilities, w hich may obligate the Fund to supply additional cash 

to the borrow er on demand. U nfunded loan commitments represent a future obligation in full, even though a percentage of 

the notional loan amounts w ill never be utilised by the borrow er. W hen investing in a loan participation, the Fund have the 

right to receive payments of principal, interest and any fees to w hich it is entitled only from the lender selling the loan 

agreement and only upon receipt of payments by the lender from the borrow er. The Fund may receive a commitment fee 

based on the undraw n portion of the underlying line of credit portion of a floating rate loan. In certain circumstances, the 

Fund may receive a prepayment penalty fee upon the prepayment of a floating rate loan by a borrow er. Fees earned or paid 

are recorded as a component of interest income or interest expense, respectively, on the Statement of O perations of the 

Fund. As of D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010, the Fund had no unfunded loan commitments. 
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(d) M ortgage-Related and O ther Asset-Backed Securities 

The Fund may invest in mortgage-related and other asset-backed securities. These securities include mortgage pass-

through securities, collateralised mortgage obligations, commercial mortgage-backed securities, asset-backed securities, 

collateralised debt obligations and other securities that directly or indirectly represent a participation in, or are secured by 

and payable from, mortgage loans on real property. M ortgage-related and other asset-backed securities are interests in 

pools of loans or other receivables. M ortgage-related securities are created from pools of residential or commercial 

mortgage loans, including mortgage loans made by savings and loan institutions, mortgage bankers, commercial banks 

and others. Asset-backed securities are created from many types of assets, including auto loans, credit card receivables, 

home equity loans, and student loans. These securities provide a monthly payment w hich consists of both interest and 

principal payments. Interest payments may be determined by fixed or adjustable rates. The rate of pre-payments on 

underlying mortgages w ill affect the price and volatility of a mortgage-related security, and may have the effect of 

shortening or extending the effective duration of the security relative to w hat w as anticipated at the time of purchase. The 

timely payment of principal and interest of certain mortgage-related securities is guaranteed w ith the full faith and credit of 

the U .S. G overnment. Pools created and guaranteed by non-governmental issuers, including government-sponsored 

corporations, may be supported by various forms of insurance or guarantees, but there can be no assurance that the private 

insurers or guarantors can meet their obligations under the insurance policies or guarantee arrangements. 

 

Collateralised M ortgage O bligations (“CM O s”) are debt obligations of a legal entity that are collateralised by mortgages and 

divided into classes. CM O s are structured into multiple classes, often referred to as “tranches,” w ith each class bearing a 

different stated maturity and entitled to a different schedule for payments of principal and interest, including pre-

payments. Commercial M ortgage-Backed Securities (“CM BS”) include securities that reflect an interest in, and are secured 

by, mortgage loans on commercial real property. M any of the risks of investing in CM BS reflect the risks of investing in the 

real estate securing the underlying mortgage loans. These risks reflect the effects of local and other economic conditions on 

real estate markets, the ability of tenants to make loan payments, and the ability of a property to attract and retain tenants. 

CM O s and CM BS may be less liquid and may exhibit greater price volatility than other types of mortgage-related or asset-

backed securities. 

 

Collateralised D ebt O bligations (“CD O s”) include Collateralised Bond O bligations (“CBO s”), Collateralised Loan O bligations 

(“CLO s”) and other similarly structured securities. CBO s and CLO s are types of asset-backed securities. A CBO  is a trust w hich 

is backed by a diversified pool of high risk, below  investment grade fixed income securities. A CLO  is a trust typically 

collateralised by a pool of loans, w hich may include, among others, domestic and foreign senior secured loans, senior 

unsecured loans, and subordinate corporate loans, including loans that may be rated below  investment grade or equivalent 

unrated loans. The risks of an investment in a CD O  depend largely on the type of the collateral securities and the class of the 

CD O  in w hich the Fund invests. CD O s carry additional risks including, but not limited to, (i) the possibility that distributions 

from collateral securities w ill not be adequate to make interest or other payments, (ii) the collateral may decline in value or 

default, (iii) the Fund may invest in CD O s that are subordinate to other classes, and (iv) the complex structure of the security 

may not be fully understood at the time of investment and may produce disputes w ith the issuer or unexpected investment 

results. 
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(e) Reverse Repurchase Agreem ents 

The Fund may engage in reverse repurchase agreements. U nder the terms of a typical reverse repurchase agreement, the 

Fund takes possession of an underlying debt obligation (collateral) subject to an obligation of the seller to repurchase, and 

the Fund to resell, the obligation at an agreed-upon price and time. The underlying securities for all reverse repurchase 

agreements are held in safekeeping at the Fund’s custodian or designated subcustodians under tri-party reverse repurchase 

agreements. The fair value of the collateral must be equal to or exceed the total amount of the reverse repurchase 

obligations, including interest. Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements are reflected as an asset on the 

Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. Interest earned is recorded as a component of interest income on the Statement of 

O perations of the Fund. In periods of increased demand for collateral, the Fund may pay a fee for receipt of collateral, w hich 

may result in interest expense to the Fund. G enerally, in the event of counterparty default, the Fund has the right to use the 

collateral to offset losses incurred. If the counterparty should default, the Fund w ill seek to sell the securities w hich it holds 

as collateral. This could involve procedural costs or delays in addition to a loss on the securities if their value should fall 

below  their repurchase price. 

 

(f) Restricted Securities 

The Fund may invest in securities that are subject to legal or contractual restrictions on resale. These securities may be sold 

privately, but are required to be registered or exempted from such registration before being sold to the public. Private 

placement securities are generally considered to be restricted except for those securities traded betw een qualified 

institutional investors under the provisions of Rule 144A of the Securities Act of 1933. D isposal of restricted securities may 

involve time-consuming negotiations and expenses, and prompt sale at an acceptable price may be difficult to achieve. 

Securities w ith an aggregate market value of $322 have been pledged as collateral for centrally cleared sw aps as of 

D ecember 31, 2011. 

 

(g) Short Sales 

The Fund may enter into short sales transactions. A short sale is a transaction in w hich the Fund sells securities it does not 

ow n in anticipation of a decline in the market price of the securities. Securities sold in short sale transactions and the 

interest payable on such securities, if any, are reflected as a liability on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. The Fund is 

obligated to deliver securities at the market price at the time the short position is closed. Possible losses from short sales 

may be unlimited, w hereas losses from purchases cannot exceed the total amount invested. 

 

(h) G overnm ent Agencies or G overnm ent-Sponsored Enterprises 

The Fund may invest in Canadian G overnment securities. Canadian G overnment securities are obligations of, or guaranteed 

by, the Canadian G overnment, its agencies or government-sponsored enterprises. Canadian G overnment securities are 

subject to market and interest rate risk and may be subject to varying degrees of credit risk. Canadian G overnment 

securities include zero coupon securities, w hich tend to be subject to greater market risk than interest-paying securities of 

similar maturities. 

 

The Fund may also invest in securities of U .S. G overnment agencies or government-sponsored enterprises. U .S. G overnment 

securities are obligations of and, in certain cases, guaranteed by, the U .S. G overnment, its agencies or instrumentalities. 

Some U .S. G overnment securities, such as Treasury bills, notes and bonds, and securities guaranteed by the G overnment 

National M ortgage Association (“GNM A” or “G innie M ae”), are supported by the full faith and credit of the U .S. G overnment; 

others, such as those of the Federal H ome Loan Bank, are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow  from the U .S. 

D epartment of the Treasury (the “U .S. Treasury”); and others, such as those of the Federal National M ortgage Association 

(“FNM A” or “Fannie M ae”), are supported by the discretionary authority of the U .S. G overnment to purchase the agency’s 

obligations. U .S. G overnment securities may include zero coupon securities, w hich do not distribute interest on a current 

basis and tend to be subject to greater risk than interest-paying securities of similar maturities. 
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Government-related guarantors (i.e., not backed by the full faith and credit of the U .S. G overnment) include FNM A and the 

Federal H ome Loan M ortgage Corporation (“FH LM C” or “Freddie M ac”). FNM A is a government-sponsored corporation, the 

common stock of w hich is ow ned entirely by private stockholders. FNM A purchases conventional (i.e., not insured or 

guaranteed by any government agency) residential mortgages from a list of approved seller/servicers w hich include state 

and federally chartered savings and loan associations, mutual savings banks, commercial banks and credit unions and 

mortgage bankers. Pass-through securities issued by FNM A are guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest 

by FNM A, but are not backed by the full faith and credit of the U .S. G overnment. FH LM C issues Participation Certificates 

(“PCs”), w hich are pass-through securities, each representing an undivided interest in a pool of residential mortgages. 

FH LM C guarantees the timely payment of interest and ultimate collection of principal, but PCs are not backed by the full 

faith and credit of the U .S. G overnment. 

 

28. Financial Derivative Instrum ents 

The follow ing disclosures contain information on how  and w hy the Fund uses financial derivative instruments, the credit-

risk-related contingent features in certain financial derivative instruments, and how  financial derivative instruments affect 

the Fund’s financial position, results of operations and cash flow s.  The financial derivative instruments outstanding as of 

period end and the amounts of realised and changes in unrealised appreciation and depreciation on financial derivative 

instruments during the period as disclosed on the Statement of O perations of the Fund serve as indicators of the volume of 

financial derivative activity for the Fund. 

 

(a) Foreign Currency Contracts 

The Fund may enter into foreign currency contracts in connection w ith settling planned purchases or sales of securities, to 

hedge the currency exposure associated w ith some or all of the Fund’s securities or as a part of an investment strategy. A 

foreign currency contract is an agreement betw een tw o parties to buy and sell a currency at a set price on a future date. The 

fair value of a foreign currency contract fluctuates w ith changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Foreign currency 

contracts are marked to market daily and the change in value is recorded by the Fund as an unrealised gain or loss. Realised 

gains or losses equal to the difference betw een the value of the contract at the time it w as opened and the value at the time 

it w as closed are recorded upon delivery or receipt of the currency. These contracts may involve market risk in excess of the 

unrealised gain or loss reflected on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. In addition, the Fund could be exposed to risk if 

the counterparties are unable to meet the terms of the contracts or if the value of the currency changes unfavorably to the 

Canadian dollar. In connection w ith these contracts, securities may be identified as collateral in accordance w ith the terms 

of the respective contracts. 

 

(b) Futures Contracts 

The Fund may enter into futures contracts. The Fund may use futures contracts to manage their exposure to the securities 

markets or to movements in interest rates and currency values. The primary risks associated w ith the use of futures 

contracts are the imperfect correlation betw een the change in market value of the securities held by the Fund and the 

prices of futures contracts and the possibility of an illiquid market. Futures contracts are valued based upon their quoted 

daily settlement prices. U pon entering into a futures contract, the Fund are required to deposit w ith their futures broker, an 

amount of cash, U .S. or Canadian G overnment and Agency O bligations or select sovereign debt in accordance w ith the 

initial margin requirements of the broker or exchange. Futures contracts are marked to market daily and an appropriate 

payable or receivable for the change in value (“variation margin”) is recorded by the Fund. G ains or losses are recognised 

but not considered realised until the contracts expire or are closed. Futures contracts involve, to varying degrees, risk of loss 

in excess of the variation margin disclosed on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. 
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(c) O ptions Contracts 

The Fund may w rite call and put options on securities and financial derivative instruments they ow n or in w hich they may 

invest. W riting put options tends to increase the Fund’s exposure to the underlying instrument. W riting call options tends to 

decrease the Fund’s exposure to the underlying instrument. W hen the Fund w rites a call or put, an amount equal to the 

premium received is recorded as a liability and subsequently marked to market to reflect the current value of the option 

w ritten. These liabilities are reflected as w ritten options outstanding on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. Premiums 

received from w riting options w hich expire are treated as realised gains. Premiums received from w riting options w hich are 

exercised or closed are added to the proceeds or offset against amounts paid on the underlying futures, sw ap, security or 

currency transaction to determine the realised gain or loss. Certain options may be w ritten w ith premiums to be 

determined on a future date. The Fund, as a w riter of an option, have no control over w hether the underlying instrument 

may be sold (call) or purchased (put) and as a result bears the market risk of an unfavorable change in the price of the 

instrument underlying the w ritten option. There is the risk the Fund may not be able to enter into a closing transaction 

because of an illiquid market. 

 

The Fund may also purchase put and call options. Purchasing call options tends to increase the Fund’s exposure to the 

underlying instrument. Purchasing put options tends to decrease the Fund’s exposure to the underlying instrument. The 

Fund pays a premium w hich is included on the Fund’s Statement of Net Assets as an investment and subsequently marked 

to market to reflect the current value of the option. Premiums paid for purchasing options w hich expire are treated as 

realised losses. Certain options may be purchased w ith premiums to be determined on a future date. The premiums for 

these options are based upon implied volatility parameters at specified terms. The risk associated w ith purchasing put and 

call options is limited to the premium paid. Premiums paid for purchasing options w hich are exercised or closed are added 

to the amounts paid or offset against the proceeds on the underlying investment transaction to determine the realised gain 

or loss w hen the underlying transaction is sold. 

 

O ptions on Exchange-Traded Futures Contracts 

The Fund may w rite or purchase options on exchange-traded futures contracts (“Futures O ption”). A Futures O ption is an 

option contract in w hich the underlying is a single futures contract. The Fund may w rite a Futures O ption for income 

purposes or to hedge an existing position or future investment. The Fund may purchase Futures O ptions for speculative 

purposes or to manage exposure to market movements.   

 

Interest Rate Sw aptions 

The Fund may enter into interest rate sw aption agreements. A sw aption is an option to enter into a pre-defined sw ap 

agreement by some specified date in the future. The w riter of the sw aption becomes the counterparty to the sw ap if the 

buyer exercises. The interest rate sw aption agreement w ill specify w hether the buyer of the sw aption w ill be a fixed-rate 

receiver or a fixed rate payer. 

 

Foreign Currency O ptions 

The Fund may w rite or purchase foreign currency options. These options may be used as a short or long hedge against 

possible variations in foreign exchange rates or to gain exposure to foreign currencies. A foreign currency option w ill specify 

the amount of currency and a rate of exchange that may be exercised by a specified date. 

 

(d) Sw ap  Agreem ents 

The Fund may invest in sw ap agreements. Sw ap agreements are bilaterally negotiated agreements betw een the Fund and a 

counterparty to exchange or sw ap investment cash flow s, assets, foreign currencies or market-linked returns at specified, 

future intervals. Sw ap agreements are privately negotiated in the over-the-counter market (“O TC sw aps”) or may be 

executed in a multilateral or other trade facility platform, such as a registered exchange (“centrally cleared sw aps”). The 

Fund may enter into credit default, cross-currency, interest rate and other forms of sw ap agreements to manage its 

exposure to credit, currency, interest rate, commodity, equity and inflation risk. In connection w ith these agreements, 
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securities or cash may be identified as collateral or margin in accordance w ith the terms of the respective sw ap agreements 

to provide assets of value and recourse in the event of default or bankruptcy/insolvency. 

 

Sw aps are fair valued daily based upon values from third party vendors, w hich may include a registered exchange, or 

quotations from market makers to the extent available. In the event that market quotes are not readily available and the 

sw ap cannot be valued pursuant to one of the valuation methods, the value of the sw ap w ill be determined in good faith by 

the Valuation Committee of PIM CO , generally based upon recommendations provided by PIM CO . Changes in fair value, if 

any, are reflected as a component of net changes in unrealised appreciation/ (depreciation) on the Statement of O perations 

of the Fund. D aily changes in valuation of centrally cleared sw aps, if any, are recorded as a receivable or payable for the 

change in value as appropriate (“variation margin”) on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. O TC sw ap payments 

received or made at the beginning of the measurement period are reflected as such on the Statement of Net Assets of the 

Fund and represent premiums paid or received upon entering into the sw ap agreement to compensate for differences 

betw een the stated terms of the sw ap agreement and prevailing market conditions (credit spreads, currency exchange 

rates, interest rates, and other relevant factors). These upfront premiums are recorded as realised gains or losses on the 

Statement of O perations of the Fund upon termination or maturity of the sw ap. A liquidation payment received or made at 

the termination of the sw ap is recorded as realised gain or loss on the Statement of O perations of the Fund. Net periodic 

payments received or paid by the Fund are included as part of realised gains or losses on the Statement of O perations of the 

Fund. 

 

Entering into these agreements involves, to varying degrees, elements of interest, credit, market and documentation risk in 

excess of the amounts recognised on the Statement of Net Assets of the Fund. Such risks involve the possibility that there 

w ill be no liquid market for these agreements, that the counterparty to the agreements may default on its obligation to 

perform or disagree as to the meaning of contractual terms in the agreements and that there may be unfavorable changes 

in interest rates. 

 

The Fund’s maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk is the discounted net value of the cash flow s to be received 

from the counterparty over the contract’s remaining life, to the extent that amount is positive. The risk is mitigated by 

having a master netting arrangement betw een the Fund and the counterparty and by the posting of collateral to the Fund 

to cover the Fund’s exposure to the counterparty. 

 

Credit Default Sw ap Agreem ents 

Credit default sw ap agreements involve one party making a stream of payments (referred to as the buyer of protection) to 

another party (the seller of protection) in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a default or 

other credit event for the referenced entity, obligation or index. As a seller of protection on credit default sw ap agreements, 

the Fund w ill generally receive from the buyer of protection a fixed rate of income throughout the term of the sw ap 

provided that there is no credit event. As the seller, the Fund w ould effectively add leverage to their portfolios because, in 

addition to their total net assets, the Fund w ould be subject to investment exposure on the notional amount of the sw ap.  

 

If the Fund is a seller of protection and a credit event occurs, as defined under the terms of that particular sw ap agreement, 

the Fund w ill either (i) pay to the buyer of protection an amount equal to the notional amount of the sw ap and take delivery 

of the referenced obligation, other deliverable obligations or underlying securities comprising the referenced index or (ii) 

pay a net settlement amount in the form of cash or securities equal to the notional amount of the sw ap less the recovery 

value of the referenced obligation or underlying securities comprising the referenced index. If the Fund is a buyer of 

protection and a credit event occurs, as defined under the terms of that particular sw ap agreement, the Fund w ill either (i) 

receive from the seller of protection an amount equal to the notional amount of the sw ap and deliver the referenced 

obligation, other deliverable obligations or underlying securities comprising the referenced index or (ii) receive a net 

settlement amount in the form of cash or securities equal to the notional amount of the sw ap less the recovery value of the 

referenced obligation or underlying securities comprising the referenced index. Recovery values are estimated by market 

makers considering either industry standard recovery rates or entity specific factors and considerations until a credit event 
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occurs. If a credit event has occurred, the recovery value is determined by a facilitated auction w hereby a minimum number 

of allow able broker bids, together w ith a specified valuation method, are used to calculate the settlement value.  

 

Credit default sw ap agreements on corporate issues or sovereign involve one party making a stream of payments to 

another party in exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a default or other credit event. If a credit 

event occurs and cash settlement is not elected, a variety of other deliverable obligations may be delivered in lieu of the 

specific referenced obligation. The ability to deliver other obligations may result in a cheapest-to-deliver option (the buyer 

of protection’s right to choose the deliverable obligation w ith the low est value follow ing a credit event). The Fund may use 

credit default sw aps on corporate issues or sovereign issues to provide a measure of protection against defaults of the 

issuers (i.e., to reduce risk w here the Fund ow n or have exposure to the referenced obligation) or to take an active long or 

short position w ith respect to the likelihood of a particular issuer’s default.  

 

Credit default sw ap agreements on credit indices involve one party making a stream of payments to another party in 

exchange for the right to receive a specified return in the event of a w rite-dow n, principal shortfall, interest shortfall or 

default of all or part of the referenced entities comprising the credit index. A credit index is a basket of credit instruments or 

exposures designed to be representative of some part of the credit market as a w hole. These indices are made up of 

reference credits that are judged by a poll of dealers to be the most liquid entities in the credit default sw ap market based 

on the sector of the index. Components of the indices may include, but are not limited to, investment grade securities, high 

yield securities, asset-backed securities, emerging markets, and/or various credit ratings w ithin each sector. Credit indices 

are traded using credit default sw aps w ith standardised terms including a fixed spread and standard maturity dates. An 

index credit default sw ap references all the names in the index, and if there is a default, the credit event is settled based on 

that name’s w eight in the index. The composition of the indices changes periodically, usually every six months, and for most 

indices, each name has an equal w eight in the index. The Fund may use credit default sw aps on credit indices to hedge a 

portfolio of credit default sw aps or bonds, w hich is less expensive than it w ould be to buy many credit default sw aps to 

achieve a similar effect. Credit default sw aps on indices are benchmarks for protecting investors ow ning bonds against 

default, and traders use them to speculate on changes in credit quality. 

 

Implied credit spreads, represented in absolute terms, utilised in determining the fair value of credit default sw ap 

agreements on corporate issues, sovereign issues of an emerging country or U .S. municipal issues as of period end serve as 

an indicator of the current status of the payment/performance risk and represent the likelihood or risk of default for the 

credit derivative. The implied credit spread of a particular referenced entity reflects the cost of buying/selling protection 

and may include upfront payments required to be made to enter into the agreement. For credit default sw ap agreements 

on asset-backed securities and credit indices, the quoted market prices and resulting values serve as the indicator of the 

current status of the payment/performance risk. W ider credit spreads represent a deterioration of the referenced entity's 

credit soundness and a greater likelihood or risk of default or other credit event occurring as defined under the terms of the 

agreement. 

 

The maximum potential amount of future payments (undiscounted) that the Fund as a seller of protection could be 

required to make under a credit default sw ap agreement w ould be an amount equal to the notional amount of the 

agreement. These potential amounts w ould be partially offset by any recovery values of the respective referenced 

obligations, upfront payments received upon entering into the agreement, or net amounts received from the settlement of 

buy protection credit default sw ap agreements entered into by the Fund for the same referenced entity or entities. 

 

Cross-Currency Sw ap Agreem ents 

The Fund may enter into cross-currency sw ap agreements to gain or mitigate exposure on currency risk. Cross-currency 

sw ap agreements involve tw o parties exchanging tw o different currencies w ith an agreement to reverse the exchange at a 

later date at specified exchange rates. The exchange of currencies at the inception date of the contract takes place at the 

current spot rate. The re-exchange at maturity may take place at the same exchange rate, a specified rate, or the then 

current spot rate. Interest payments, if applicable, are made betw een the parties based on interest rates available in the tw o 
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currencies at the inception of the contract. The terms of cross-currency sw ap contracts may extend for many years. Cross-

currency sw aps are usually negotiated w ith commercial and investment banks. Some cross-currency sw aps may not provide 

for exchanging principal cash flow s, but only for exchanging interest cash flow s. 

 

Interest Rate Sw ap Agreem ents 

The Fund is subject to interest rate risk exposure in the normal course of pursuing its investment objectives. Because the 

Fund holds fixed rate bonds, the value of these bonds may decrease if interest rates rise. To help hedge against this risk and 

to maintain its ability to generate income at prevailing market rates, the Fund may enter into interest rate sw ap agreements. 

Interest rate sw ap agreements involve the exchange by the Fund w ith another party for its respective commitment to pay 

or receive interest on the notional amount of principal. Certain forms of interest rate sw ap agreements may include: (i) 

interest rate caps, under w hich, in return for a premium, one party agrees to make payments to the other to the extent that 

interest rates exceed a specified rate, or “cap”, (ii) interest rate floors, under w hich, in return for a premium, one party agrees 

to make payments to the other to the extent that interest rates fall below  a specified rate, or “floor”, (iii) interest rate collars, 

under w hich a party sells a cap and purchases a floor or vice versa in an attempt to protect itself against interest rate 

movements exceeding given minimum or maximum levels, (iv) callable interest rate sw aps, under w hich the counterparty 

may terminate the sw ap transaction in w hole at zero cost by a predetermined date and time prior to the maturity date, (v) 

spreadlocks, w hich allow  the interest rate sw ap users to lock in the forw ard differential (or spread) betw een the interest rate 

sw ap rate and a specified benchmark, or (vi) basis sw ap, under w hich tw o parties can exchange variable interest rates based 

on different money markets.  

 

29. Financial Instrum ents Risk 

The main risks arising from the Fund’s financial instruments are other price, interest rate, foreign currency, liquidity and 

credit risks. 

 

O ther Price Risk 

O ther price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments held. It represents the potential 

loss the Fund might suffer through holding market positions in the face of adverse price movements. The Investment 

M anager considers the asset allocation of the portfolios in order to minimise the risk associated w ith particular countries or 

industry sectors w hilst continuing to follow  the Fund’s investment objectives. 

 

The Investment M anager uses a number of quantitative techniques to assess the impact of market risks including credit 

events, changes in interest rates, credit spreads and recovery values on the Fund’s investment portfolio. 

 

The Investment M anager uses Value at Risk (“VaR”) analysis, a technique w idely used by financial institutions to quantify, 

assess, and report market risk. VaR is a statistical framew ork that supports the quantification of market risk w ithin a portfolio 

at a specified confidence interval over a defined holding period. VaR seeks to quantify the expected maximum dollar losses 

that may result from the interactive behaviour of all material market prices, spreads, volatilities, and rates based on the 

historically observed relationships betw een these markets. 

 

PIM CO  monitors portfolio risk using market factor exposures on a daily basis. Potential market risk is calculated using the 

parametric delta-normal or factor model approach. VaR is calculated and reported automatically each day using the fair 

value and market information of the most recent business day. D epending on the application of the risk statistics, various 

confidence levels (such as 99%) and time horizons (w eeks or months) might be selected. 

 

In addition to daily VaR measures, three types of stress tests are also conducted for the Fund. The first test includes scenario 

duration tests that measure w hat happens to the value of the portfolio if unexpected movements in yields occur in the 

market. The second test involves a database of historical crisis scenarios that can be executed to test reactions to these 
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crises. The historical crisis scenarios contain many unexpected changes in market conditions and correlation matrices. The 

third test involves correlation matrices w hich can be manipulated manually to reflect conditions that may happen in the 

future, but have not happened so far. 

The daily VaR measures are an estimate of the portfolio loss over the next one month period that w ould not be exceeded 

99% of the time, relative to the assumptions of the VaR model. 

 

The table below  summarises the potential maximum risk of loss, or the VaR, for the portfolio as at D ecember 31, 2011 and 

2010.  

 

  

 VaR % of Net Assets 

D ecember 31, 2011 2,303 1.586 

D ecember 31, 2010 2,898 2.023 

 

Not all risks to w hich the Fund’s investment portfolio may be exposed are intended to be captured by VaR and, in particular, 

the framew ork does not seek to capture liquidity risk, counterparty credit risk, or extreme credit events such as an issuer 

default. In practice, the actual trading results w ill differ from the VaR and may not provide a meaningful indication of profits 

and losses in stressed market conditions. To determine the reliability of the VaR models, actual outcomes are monitored to 

test the validity of the assumptions and parameters used in the VaR calculation. M arket risk positions are also subject to 

regular stress tests to ensure that the Fund w ould w ithstand an extreme market event. 

 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that fixed income securities w ill decline in value because of changes in interest rates. As nominal 

interest rates rise, the value of certain fixed income securities held by the Fund are likely to decrease. A nominal interest rate 

can be described as the sum of a real interest rate and an expected inflation rate. Fixed income securities w ith longer 

durations tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates, usually making them more volatile than securities w ith 

shorter durations. D uration is useful primarily as a measure of the sensitivity of a fixed income’s market price to interest rate 

(i.e. yield) movements. 

 

The tables below  summarise the Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Fund’s financial instruments at fair 

value, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates. Certain assets and liabilities, as presented in the 

Statement of Net Assets of the Fund, have been netted for purposes of the presentation below . 
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As at Decem ber 31, 

2011 

Assets  

Less than 3 

months 

3 months - 1 

year 

1– 5 years G reater than 

5 years 

Non-interest 

bearing 

 

Total 

Financial assets 8,611  2,332  65,609  71,360  3,151  151,063  

Cash -  - - - 1,557  1,557  

D eposit w ith 

counterparties 

- - - - 871  871  

Receivables - - - - 4,692  4,692  

Total Assets 8,611  2,332  65,609  71,360  10,271  158,183  

       

As at Decem ber 31, 

2011 

Liabilities  

Less than 3 

months 

3 months - 1 

year 

1– 5 years G reater than 

5 years 

Non-interest 

bearing 

 

Total 

Financial liabilities  - - (114)  (3,293) (532) (3,939) 

Payables - - -  -  (7,072) (7,072) 

D eposit from 

counterparties 

- - -  -  (1,945) (1,945) 

Total Liabilities - - (114)  (3,293) (9,549) (12,956) 

 

As at Decem ber 31, 

2010 

Assets  

Less than 3 

months 

3 months - 1 

year 

1– 5 years G reater than 

5 years 

Non-interest 

bearing 

 

Total 

Financial assets 6,465 3,053 13,240 88,088 806 111,652 

Cash - - - - 3,532 3,532 

D eposit w ith 

counterparties 

- - - - 57 57 

Receivables - - - - 29,823 29,823 

Total Assets 6,465 3,053 13,240 88,088 34,218 145,064 

 

As at Decem ber 31, 

2010 

Liabilities  

Less than 3 

months 

3 months - 1 

year 

1– 5 years G reater than 

5 years 

Non-interest 

bearing 

 

Total 

Financial liabilities  - - - - (348) (348) 

Payables - - - - (40) (40) 

D eposit from 

counterparties 

- - - - (1,401) (1,401) 

Total Liabilities - - - - (1,789) (1,789) 

 

Foreign Currency Risk 

A portion of the financial instruments of the Fund are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the 

Fund w ith the effect that the financial position can be significantly affected by currency movements.  
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The follow ing tables set out the total exposure to foreign currency risk other than the functional currency in the Fund as at 

D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010. 

 

Decem ber 31, 2011  

Total 

$ 

H edging 

$ 

Net 

$ 

Australian D ollar 267  (426) (159) 

Brazilian Real 0 2 2 

British Pound 8,573 (8,328) 245 

Chinese Yuan Renminbi 0 2,812 2,812 

Euro 10,144 (11,484) (1,340) 

Japanese Yen 37 0 37 

Korean W on 0 8 8 

M exican Peso 9,280 (9,384) (104) 

Philippine Peso 0 (1) (1) 

Singapore D ollar 0 1 1 

U nited States D ollar 38,311 (39,516) (1,205) 

 $66,612 $(66,316) $296 

 

 

 

Decem ber 31, 2010 

Total 

$ 

H edging 

$ 

Net 

$ 

Brazilian Real 0  876  876  

Chinese Yuan Renminbi 0  2,887  2,887  

British Pound 3,217  (3,286) (69) 

Euro 6,069  (10,331) (4,262) 

Korean W on 0  361  361  

M exican Peso 0  360  360  

Philippine Peso 0  376  376  

Singapore D ollar 0  383  383  

U nited States D ollar 30,086  (32,482) (2,396) 

 $39,372  $(40,856) $(1,484) 

 

As at D ecember 31, 2011, if the Canadian dollar had strengthened or w eakened by 5% in relation to all foreign currencies, 

w ith all other factors remaining constant, Net Assets could possibly have decreased or increased by approximately $15 

(2010: $74). In practice, actual results may differ from this sensitivity analysis and the difference could be material. 

 

Liquidity Risks 

The Fund’s exposure to liquidity risk is primarily affected by the daily redemption of units. Participating unitholders may 

redeem some or all of their outstanding units at any time w ithout notice thus; the Fund’s assets primarily comprise readily 

realisable securities, w hich can be readily sold. Liquidity risk exists w hen particular investments are difficult to purchase or 

sell. The Fund’s investments in illiquid securities may reduce returns of the Fund because they may be unable to sell the 

illiquid securities at an advantageous time or price. Funds w ith principal investment strategies that involve foreign 

securities, derivatives, or securities w ith substantial market and/or credit risk tend to have the greatest exposure to liquidity 

risk. 
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Current liabilities of financial derivative instruments consist of the fair value of interest rate sw aps, credit default sw aps, 

cross-currency sw aps, w ritten options, and forw ard currency contracts as of year end. Financial derivative instruments are 

acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. As the instruments are not expected to be held to maturity 

or termination, the current fair value represents the estimated cash flow  that may be required to dispose of the positions. 

Future cash flow s of the Fund and realised liabilities may differ from current liabilities based on changes in market 

conditions. 

 

The Investment M anager manages liquidity risk by monitoring the Fund’s investment portfolio and considering 

investments deemed to be illiquid or not readily and easily sold, to ensure there are sufficient liquid assets to cover the 

outstanding liabilities of the Fund. The follow ing tables summarise the current know n liabilities for the Fund by the 

expected payment dates of those liabilities: less than three months, three months to one year, and greater than one year, if 

applicable. 

 

As at  Decem ber 31, 2011  

Current Liabilities  

Statement of 

Net Assets 

Less than 3 

M onths 

3 M onths - 1 

year 
Total 

Financial D erivative Instruments 1,468 1,468 - 1,468 

Payable for investments purchased 7,043 7,043 - 7,043 

Payable for short sales 2,471 2,471 - 2,471 

Sw ap interest payable 11 11 - 11 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 

18 18 - 18 

D eposit from counterparties 1,945 1,945 - 1,945 

Total Liabilities $12,956 $12,956 - $12,956 

 

As at  Decem ber 31, 2010  

Current Liabilities  

Statement of 

Net Assets 

Less than 3 

M onths 

3 M onths - 1 

year 
Total 

Financial D erivative Instruments 348 348 - 348 

Sw ap interest payable 25 25 - 25 

Accounts payable and accrued 

liabilities 15 15 - 15 

D eposit from counterparties 1,401 1,401 - 1,401 

Total Liabilities $1,789 $1,789 - $1,789 

 

Credit and Counterparty Risks 

The Fund w ill be exposed to credit risk on parties w ith w hom they trade and w ill also bear the risk of settlement default. The 

Fund minimises concentrations of credit risk by undertaking transactions w ith a large number of customers and 

counterparties on recognised and reputable exchanges. The Fund could lose money if the issuer or guarantor of a fixed 

income security, or the counterparty to a financial derivatives contract, repurchase agreement or a loan of portfolio 

securities, is unable or unw illing to make timely principal and/or interest payments, or to otherw ise honor its obligations. 

Securities are subject to varying degrees of credit risk, w hich are often reflected in credit ratings. 

 

Similar to credit risk, the Fund may be exposed to counterparty risk, or the risk that an institution or other entity w ith w hich 

the Fund have unsettled or open transactions w ill default. Financial assets, w hich potentially expose the Fund to 

counterparty risk, consist principally of cash due from counterparties and investments. PIM CO , as the investment adviser, 

minimises counterparty risks to the Fund by performing extensive review s of each counterparty and obtaining approval 

from the PIM CO  Counterparty Risk Committee prior to entering into transactions w ith a third party. Furthermore, to the 

extent that unpaid amounts ow ed to the Fund exceed a predetermined threshold agreed to w ith the counterparty, such 

counterparty shall advance collateral to the Fund in the form of cash or cash equivalents equal in value to the unpaid 
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amount ow ed to the Fund. The Fund may invest such collateral in securities or other instruments and w ill typically pay 

interest to the counterparty on the collateral received. If the unpaid amount ow ed to the Fund subsequently decreases, the 

Fund w ould be required to return to the counterparty all or a portion of the collateral previously advanced to the Fund. 

 

All transactions in listed securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved counterparties. The risk of default is 

considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the Fund has received payment. Payment is made on a 

purchase once the securities have been delivered by the counterparty. The trade w ill fail if either party fails to meet its 

obligation. 

 

The Fund is subject to various M aster Agreements, w hich govern the terms of certain transactions w ith select 

counterparties. These M aster Agreements reduce the counterparty risk associated w ith relevant transactions by specifying 

credit protection mechanisms and providing standardisation that improves legal certainty. Since different types of forw ard 

and O TC financial derivative transactions have different mechanics and are sometimes traded out of different legal entities 

of a particular counterparty organisation, each type of transaction may be covered by a different M aster Agreement and 

result in the need for multiple agreements w ith a single counterparty. Therefore, exposure cannot be netted and 

collateralised across all types of transactions. Exposures can only be netted across transactions governed under the same 

M aster Agreement w ith the same legal entity. 

M aster Agreements can also help limit counterparty risk by specifying collateral posting arrangements at pre-arranged 

exposure levels. U nder the M aster Agreements, collateral is routinely transferred if the total net exposure to certain 

transactions (net of existing collateral already in place) governed under the relevant M aster Agreement w ith a counterparty 

in a given account exceeds a specified threshold, w hich typically ranges from zero to $250,000 depending on the 

counterparty and the type of M aster Agreement. U nited States Treasury bills and U .S. dollar cash are generally the preferred 

forms of collateral, although other forms of AAA rated paper may be used. The Fund’s overall exposure to counterparty risk 

can change substantially w ithin a short period, as it is affected by each transaction subject to the relevant M aster 

Agreement. 

 

M aster Repurchase Agreements (“M aster Repo Agreements”) govern transactions betw een the Fund and select 

counterparties. The M aster Repo Agreements maintain provisions for, among other things, initiation, income payments, 

events of default, and maintenance of collateral for Reverse Repurchase Agreements. 

 

M aster Securities Forw ard Transaction Agreements (“M aster Forw ard Agreements”) govern the considerations and factors 

surrounding the settlement of certain purchases and sales made on a delayed-delivery basis by and betw een the Fund and 

select counterparties. The M aster Forw ard Agreements maintain provisions for, among other things, initiation and 

confirmation, payment and transfer, events of default, termination, and maintenance of collateral.  

 

International Sw aps and D erivatives Association, Inc. M aster Agreements (“ISD A M aster Agreements”) govern O TC financial 

derivative transactions entered into by the Fund and select counterparties. The ISD A M aster Agreements maintain 

provisions for general obligations, representations, agreements, collateral and events of default or termination. Events of 

termination include conditions that may entitle counterparties to elect to terminate early and cause settlement of all 

outstanding transactions under the applicable ISD A M aster Agreement. Any election to early terminate could be material to 

the financial statements. 
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The table below  summarises the credit rating composition for the Fund’s Net Assets. 

 

 Decem ber 31, 

2011 

Decem ber 31, 

2010 

A1/P1 2% 22% 

AAA 47% 29% 

AA 25% 34% 

A 9% 7% 

BAA 11% 5% 

BB 3% 2% 

B 3% 1% 

Total 100% 100% 

Average Credit Q uality AA- AA 

 

Credit ratings are obtained from Standard &  Poor’s and M oody’s. W hen more than one rating is obtained for a security, the 

highest rating has been used. 

 

30. U nitholders’ Equity 

The Fund may issue units of a single class, w hich shall entitle the holders thereof to the rights and subject them to certain 

limitations, restrictions and conditions. The number of U nits authorised to be issued by the Fund is unlimited. Fund units are 

sold, and are redeemable at the holder’s option, in accordance w ith the provisions of the Fund Agreement at the prevailing 

net asset value per unit. 

 

The Fund’s capital is represented by their unitholders’ equity. There are no externally imposed restrictions on the Fund’s 

capital. Refer to Note 29 for information regarding the management of the Fund’s capital. 

 

A notional distribution results in the Fund declaring a distribution of additional units, then completing a concurrent unit 

consolidation such that the number of units outstanding after a consolidation is identical to the number of units held 

before the distribution w as paid. 

 

31. Fund M anagem ent and Fees 

PIM CO  Canada Corp. is the Investment M anager of the Fund having responsibility for the investment of the assets of the 

Fund. U nitholders pay the Investment M anager the investment management fees directly as set forth in the Fund’s offering 

memorandum. The Investment M anager, and not the unitholders, is responsible for paying any sub-advisory fees payable to 

PIM CO . 

 

The Fund pay PIM CO  Canada an Administration Fee of 0.10% plus H armonised Sales Tax (“H ST”) per annum of their average 

daily net assets, accrued daily and payable monthly. PIM CO  Canada is responsible for paying all of the Fund’s operating 

costs and expenses; including trustee, custody and audit fees, but excluding brokerage commissions, interest, taxes, foreign 

w ithholding tax and extraordinary expenses, such as litigation. 

 

The Trustee holds sole legal title to all property of the Fund in trust for the unitholders and is responsible for the 

management of the Fund. The Trustee is entitled under the terms of the D eclaration of Trust to delegate any or all of its 
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pow ers as Trustee. The Trustee has appointed its affiliate, State Street Bank and Trust Company, to provide custody and 

accounting services for the Fund. The Fund does not pay for the distribution of units. 

 

32. Broker Com m issions and Soft Dollar Contracts 

For the periods ended D ecember 31, 2011 and 2010, the Fund incurred total brokerage commissions in the amount of $4 

(2010: $7) to dealers in connection w ith portfolio transactions. 

 

Soft dollar commissions are arrangements under w hich products or services other than execution of securities transactions 

are obtained by an adviser from or through a broker-dealer in exchange for the direction by the adviser of client brokerage 

transactions to the broker-dealer. All brokerage commissions incurred by the Fund are used to pay for trade execution only 

and no soft dollar arrangements exist. 

 

33. Exem ption from  Regulatory Filing Requirem ents 

National Instrument 81-106 - Investment Funds Continuous D isclosure allow s for investment funds categorised as non-

reporting issuers to take advantage of an exemption from the requirement to file annual and interim financial statements 

w ith the relevant regulatory authority as per Section 2.11 of the Instrument. The Fund, as a non-reporting issuer, is relying 

on this exemption not to file its financial statements. 

 

34. Incom e Taxes 

The Fund is an open-ended unit trust as defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada). All net income for tax purposes and 

taxable net realised capital gains w ill be distributed to the unitholders in the calendar year, and w ill eliminate any liability 

for income taxes for the Fund. 

 

Capital losses realised by the Fund may be carried forw ard indefinitely and used to reduce future taxable capital gains. Non-

capital losses may be carried forw ard up to tw enty years and used to reduce future taxable income or taxable capital gains. 

As of D ecember 31, 2011, the Fund had no non-capital loss carry forw ards and $6,367 of capital loss carry forw ards. 

 

35. Com parative Figures 

Certain prior period comparative amounts have been restated to conform to the current period’s presentation. 

 

36.  Regulatory and Litigation M atters 

The Fund is not engaged in any material litigation or arbitration proceedings and is not aw are of any material litigation or 

claim pending or threatened by or against it. 
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